
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Finance and Audit 
Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend 
DA12 1AU on Wednesday, 9 November 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A  
 

Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  

 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public.  

 

5. Appointment of External Auditor  (Pages 9 - 16) 

6. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report Q2  (Pages 17 - 36) 

7. HRA Budget Monitoring Report Q2  (Pages 37 - 56) 

8. Corporate Risk Register Mid-year review  (Pages 57 - 94) 



9. Treasury Management Mid-year review  (Pages 95 - 
110) 

10. Internal Audit update  (Pages 111 - 
128) 

11. Counter Fraud Update  (Pages 129 - 
138) 

12. National Fraud Initiative Annual Progress update  (Pages 139 - 
146) 

13. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

14. Exclusion of the public   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in private 
 

None.  
 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Derek Ashenden 

Dakota Dibben 
Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Nirmal Khabra 
Lyn Milner 
Emma Morley 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1 

Finance & Audit Committee 
  

Monday, 26 September 2022                                                   7:30pm  
 

Present:  

 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)  
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)   
 
Cllrs: Derek Ashenden  

Dakota Dibben  
Gary Harding  
Samir Jassal  
Nirmal Khabra  
Lyn Milner  
Emma Morley  
 

Please note:  
 
James Larkin  
Andrew Barnett  
Alex Jarvis  

Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr Frank Wardle were in attendance.  
 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services  
Principal Accountant (General Fund)  
Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer)  

Ben Clarke  
Chloe Taylor  

Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
 

  

11. Apologies for absence  
 
No apologies of absence were received.  
 

12. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 19 July 2022 were signed by the Chair.  
 

13. Declarations of Interests  
 
Cllr Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Board Member of 
Rosherville Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 
 

14. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
 2021/22  
 
The Committee were provided with a copy of the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that for the year 
ending 31 March 2022, the LG&SCO received a total of 20 complaints or enquiries about 
Gravesham Borough Council services (Appendix II). The majority related to Housing (12) 
with others relating to Planning, Revenues & Benefits, Parking. 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 26.09.2022 

2 

In total, the Ombudsman:  
 

 Gave advice for 5 contacts 

 Referred 8 back to the Council to resolve through their own complaints 
procedure 

 Closed 5 after initial enquiries – either because they had other means of 
complaining e.g. an appeal process, or were outside the timescale 

 Upheld 3 complaints – one of which had been remedied satisfactorily by 
the Council, but with 2 for which the Ombudsman found fault. The decision 
notices for these 3 complaints are attached within Appendix III. Where the 
Ombudsman has made recommendations for remedying the complaints 
upheld, these have been accepted by the Council and completed within 
the timescale required. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services assured Members that 
feedback regarding the complaints received was fed back to the individual departments to 
ensure improvements were made to the services.  
 

15. General Fund Budget Monitoring Q1  
 
The Committee was provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2022/23, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 
 
The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 38 which held an  
Executive summary of the report; Members noted that for quarter one there was a projected  
deficit of £141,230. Attention was also drawn to section 3.9 of the report which held a 
summary of the wider unbudgeted risks to the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
including national and local pressures.   
 
The Principal Accountant (General Fund) fielded questions from Members and explained  
that:  
 

 Fuel costs were constantly changing   as prices had risen since the original budget 
was set, but then had started to come back down since reaching a peak in the 
summer. The report reflected information up to June 2022, the quarter two report 
would have up to date information regarding the increased interest rates announced 
recently  

  

 For the Town Pier & Pontoon, it would always be difficult to project future 
maintenance costs given the nature of the structure. Estimated budget savings 
relating to the sale of the asset could be quantified from existing budgetary provision 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 In response to a question concerning engaging with private landlords, the Chair 
assured Members that the Council were actively engaging with private landlords and 
there was a private landlord forum hosted by the Council which was held in 
Springhead. The Principal Account (General Fund) advised that he was unable to 
provide further information as it was a housing matter.  

 
The Principal Accountant (General Fund) agreed to circulate further information to Members 
regarding the financial implications of the sale of the Town Pier & Pontoon. It was confirmed 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 26.09.2022 

3 

that until the point of sale, the Council were still responsible for ongoing revenue costs such 
as repairs/maintenance and insurance. 
 
 

16. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Q1  
 
The Committee was provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2022/23, including known variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 
 
The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) directed Members to page 56 which 
provided an executive summary of the report; Members noted that at the end of Quarter 
One, income and expenditure for the year remained balanced, albeit there remained an 
anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue expenditure for the year. As 
of 30 June 2022, the forecast reflected an adverse variance of £196k. 
 
Members were updated on other key arears of financial performance that may affect the 
Council’s HRA Business Plan 
 
In response to Members question, the Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 
explained that:  
 

 The Council were relying on external contractors to return void properties to a state 
where they could be lived in; a lot of the properties that were vacated required whole 
kitchens/bathrooms to be replaced due to the state they had been left in. 

 The amount of work that needed to be completed had led to an increase in the length 
of time the Council properties were vacant; this meant that the HRA had to pay the 
Council Tax on those additional properties for longer and this was reflected in the 
increased budget. Paragraph 3.2.2 showed that the budget for Council Tax on Void 
Properties had been increased from £70k in 2021/22 to £105k in 2022/23  

 

17. Internal Audit Update  
 
The Committee were provided with an update on the work, outputs, and performance of the 
Internal Audit Team for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 July 2022.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services gave Members a brief 
summary of each section in the report.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services directed Members to section 6 
‘Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme’ and provided them with up-to-date figures 
for the performance measurements:  
 

 IA9A – Proportion of agreed assurance reviews – Delivered – 17%  

 IA9B – Proportion of agreed assurance reviews – Underway – 21%  
 
In response to a Members question, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Services explained that the Housing Development Strategy had been removed from the 
Internal Audit Plan for Q1-Q2 as the Strategy hadn’t been in place long enough for a review; 
the Strategy would be included in the Internal Audit Plan in the future once there was more 
substance to it.  

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 26.09.2022 

4 

  
Resolved that Members approved the amendments to the agreed Q1-Q2 workplan as 
detailed in section 7 of Appendix 2.  
 

18. Counter Fraud Update  
 
The Committee were provided with an update on the work, outputs, and performance of the 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 July 2022. Members were also 
provided with a summary of the results of investigative activity and the savings achieved, as 
well as the outturns against the teams set performance measures. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services gave Members a brief 
summary of each section in the report.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services directed Members attention to 
page 107 which detailed savings related to investigations; future reports would include 
details of any housing benefit overpayments as a consequence of work carried out by the 
DWP but there were no cases during this period.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that 129 investigations 
were concluded in the reporting period which resulted in savings of £97,841 compared to the 
costs for the team which were £81,960, demonstrating good value for money.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services fielded questions from 
Members and explained that:  
 

 A plan for developing fraud awareness within the Council was in place; introductory 
sessions were had with a number of services and a few teams within Housing had 
received full fraud awareness sessions. The work was ongoing, and the team would 
continue to engage with services in the Council to deliver fraud awareness training 
and learn the areas where the Fraud Team needed to target the most. The Head of 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that all services were 
unlikely to be reached before the end of the year but there was a rolling programme 
for the future  

 With regard to detecting fraud before it happened and monitoring early signs of fraud, 
Members were advised that it was difficult to measure something that hadn’t 
happened yet, but the team were looking into methods to do so. A lot of the time if 
fraud had been prevented then the Fraud Team would not find out until later as 
services such as Council Tax and Benefits undertook their own verifications to 
ensure no fraudulent behaviour had occurred and therefore wouldn’t need a fraud 
investigation by the Counter Fraud team. The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Services had spoken with neighbouring local authorities about how they 
measured what fraud may have been prevented and would continue work on 
devising a method  

 The effectiveness of the Fraud Awareness training sessions was measured by the 
referrals the team received; typically, after a session was delivered to a service then 
there would be a spike of referrals made by that service  

 With regard to Council tax fraud, where people had made a deliberate false 
statement then the team would seek to prosecute but there were circumstances 
where it may not be in the public interest to pursue criminal proceedings. In such 
instances, the council tax department can consider imposing a financial penalty for 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 26.09.2022 

5 

negligence but if the person was already in serious financial strain this may not be 
considered appropriate.  

 

19. Internal Audit Plan (Q3-Q4)  
 
The Committee’s approval was sought for Gravesham’s Internal Audit Plan (Q3-Q4) 2022-
23.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services explained that the projected 
resource budget had been refreshed to consider impacts on the level of resource that was 
originally predicted for 2022-23 and the risk assessment had been updated to take into 
account any necessary changes. The provisional plan had been amended to include the 
highest scoring areas and ensure that the remaining available Internal Audit resources were 
directed to the council’s highest areas of risk. 
 
Overall, the number of reviews for Q3-Q4 had reduced slightly due to the impact on 
resources that stemmed from the resignation of an internal auditor and two unsuccessful 
attempts to recruit a replacement. Each review had been assigned an indicative budget of 15 
days, but the final resource budget for each individual review would be agreed when setting 
the Terms of Reference to ensure there was adequate time available to complete necessary 
work. 
 
Resolved that Members approved the Intern Audit Plan (Q3-Q4) 2022-23 for Gravesham 
which was presented at Appendix 2.   
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 20:04pm.  
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 9 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Lisa Nyon - Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Appointment of External Auditors 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee an update with regard to the 
appointment of external auditors from 1 April 2023. 
 

Recommendations: 

1. The Finance & Audit Committee is asked to endorse the appointment by the PSAA of 
Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the auditor for Gravesham Borough Council for a five 
year period from 1 April 2023. 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) 
requires a relevant authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its 
accounts for a financial year not later than 31 December in the 
preceding year. Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment 
including that the authority must consult and take account of the 
advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of a 
local auditor.  
 
Section 8 provides that where a relevant authority is a local 
authority operating executive arrangements, the function of 
appointing a local auditor to audit its accounts is not the 
responsibility of an executive of the authority under those 
arrangements.  
 
Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local 
auditor: the authority must immediately inform the Secretary of 
State, who may direct the authority to appoint the auditor named 
in the direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of the authority.  
 
Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make 
regulations in relation to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the 
Secretary of State. This power has been exercised in the Local 
Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this 
gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a Sector Led 
Body to become the appointing person. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

A consultation will take place on scale fees for 2023/24 in Autumn 
2023. The results of which will be published and confirmed on the 
PSAA webpage by 30 November 2023. As indicated in a PSAA 
recent press release announcing the procurement outcome, the  
PSAA advise to anticipate an increase of  c.150% on the total fees 
for 2022/23. 

 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks 
 

Climate Change No direct implications. 
 

 
 

1. Background  

1.1 At the Full Council meeting of 7 December 2021, it was agreed to accept the 
invitation to opt into the appointing person arrangements made by the Public 
Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), for the procurement of external audit. The link 
to this paper can be found here: Report 

1.2 The PSAA ran a procurement exercise for 470 (99%) of local government, police 
and fire bodies which resulted in six audit firms being offered contracts. These 
firms together with their percentage allocation are set out in the table below :- 

Share of PSAA’s work 

Grant Thornton        36.0% 

Mazars        22.5% 

Ernst & Young        20.0% 

KPMG        14.0% 

Bishop Fleming        3.75% 

Azets Audit Services        3.25% 

 

2. Appointment of external auditor 

2.1 On 17 October the council received correspondence from the PSAA informing of 
the outcome of the procurement exercise and that PSAA intend to appoint Grant 
Thornton (UK) LLP (the council’s current external audit provider) as the auditor of 
Gravesham Borough Council.  For information this correspondence is attached at 
Appendix One for information.    

2.2 The council does have the opportunity to make representations to the PSAA on 
the proposed appointment by midnight Monday 14 November. The following may 
represent acceptable reasons:  

 There are independence issues in relation to the firm proposed as the 
auditor, which had not previously been notified to the PSAA or 

Page 10

http://gbc-modgov/documents/s64636/Report%20to%20Council%20-%20Procurement%20of%20External%20Audit%20Provision%20from%20April%202023.pdf


3 

 There are formal and joint working arrangements relevant to the 
auditor’s responsibilities which had not been previously notified to 
PSAA. 

2.3 There are no reasons to suggest that the council should make representations to 
the PSAA. Given the ongoing challenges regarding the statement of accounts for 
2019/20 it would be prudent for continuity reasons for the council to accept the 
appointment of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the council’s external auditor from for 
the five years from 1 April 2023. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Correspondence from PSAA. 
 

4. Background papers 

None 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Lisa Nyon - Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Email:  lisa.nyon@gravesham.gov.uk 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment No immediate risk to the council. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications 

Digital and website 
implications 

No direct implications 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications 

 

Page 12



 

Appendix One – Correspondence from PSAA 

 

Dear Ms Parfitt, 

Formal communication to the chief finance officer of Gravesham Borough Council 
consulting on the body’s proposed auditor appointment from 2023/24 

Background  

PSAA is responsible for appointing an auditor to eligible bodies that have chosen to opt into 
our national auditor appointment arrangements.  

About the proposed appointment 

Under regulation 13 of the Appointing Persons Regulations we must appoint an external 
auditor to each opted-in body having consulted on our proposal. 

On 3 October 2022 we wrote to inform you of the outcome of our procurement to let audit 
contracts from 2023/24. Grant Thornton was successful in winning a contract in the 
procurement, and we propose appointing this firm as the auditor of Gravesham Borough 
Council for five years from 2023/24. 

Grant Thornton UK is delighted to have been reappointed as the largest supplier of local 
government audit. The public sector has played a significant role within the firm for over 30 
years and we remain committed to the success of the sector. Our UK Public Sector 
Assurance team employs 440 people, including 29 Key Audit Partners and specialists in 
financial reporting, audit quality, and Value for Money. The team is dedicated to public audit 
work in local government and the NHS, with contracts with PSAA, Audit Scotland and over 
100 health bodies. The Public Sector Assurance team is a regular commentator on issues 
facing the sector and oversees the firm’s thought leadership, such as its series of 
publications on grants and public interest reports. 

In developing appointment proposals we have considered information provided to us by both 
opted-in bodies and audit firms, and have had regard to and sought to balance a range of 
factors including: 

       auditor independence, the most critical of all the factors; 

       joint/shared working arrangements and information from bodies, where we have 
prioritised those requests that are most relevant to the auditor’s responsibilities; 

       our commitments to the firms under the audit contracts; 

       bodies’ main offices and firms’ geographical preferences; 

       the status of prior years’ audits; and 

       continuity of auditor where appropriate. 

We have sought to accommodate as many requests as we can but that has not been 
possible in all cases - another consequence of the current, challenging local audit market. 

Further information on the auditor appointment process is available on our website. 

Responding to this consultation  

The consultation will close at midnight on Monday 14 November 2022. If you are satisfied 
with the proposed appointment, please confirm this by email to ap2@psaa.co.uk.  

Process for objecting to the proposed auditor appointment  

Page 13

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/auditor-appointment-process-2022/
mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk?subject=Acceptance%20of%20proposed%20auditor%20appointment


If you wish to make representations to us about the proposed auditor appointment, please 
send them by email to ap2@psaa.co.uk to arrive by midnight on Monday 14 November 
2022. 

Your email should set out the reasons why you think the proposed appointment should not 
be made, for example: 

1.     there is an independence issue in relation to the firm proposed as the auditor, which 
had not previously been notified to us; or 

2.     there are formal and joint working arrangements relevant to the auditor’s 
responsibilities which had not previously been notified to us.  

We will consider all representations in detail and will respond by Tuesday 22 November 
2022. If we accept your representation, we will consult you on an alternative auditor 
appointment. 

Confirmation of Auditor Appointment from 2023/24  

Our plan is to write to all bodies to confirm the Board’s final decision on the appointment of 
the auditor on or before 31 December 2022. 

Please note: we will assume Gravesham Borough Council is satisfied with the proposed 
appointment if we do not receive a response to this email.  

Contract changes from 2023/24  

Our contracts for audit services from 2023/24 have several differences to those in place for 
the audits of 2018/19 to 2022/23. Key changes made in response to client feedback include 
payment terms linked to delivery stages of an audit and additional contract management 
measures within those permissible with the local audit context. Our webinar of 16 March 
2022 provides more information about the new arrangements. 

The new contract also includes new limits on supplier liabilities as follows: 

       loss of or damage to property £2,000,000 per claim; 

       loss in relation to a failure to perform the services in accordance with the Contract or 
any other loss caused directly by any act or omission of the supplier £10,000,000 per 
claim; and 

       any loss incurred arising from non-compliance with the Data Protection Legislation 
£5,000,000 per claim. 

If you would like more information about the new liability provisions, please contact us. 

Scale fees for 2023/24  

We will consult formally on scale fees for 2023/24 in Autumn 2023, and will publish 
confirmed scale fees for 2023/24 for opted-in bodies on our website by 30 November 2023. 
As indicated in our recent press release which announced the procurement outcome our 
advice to bodies is to anticipate an increase of the order of 150% on the total fees for 
2022/23 (so a £100k 2022/23 total audit fee (scale fee plus fee variations) could become 
£250k 2023/24 total audit fee - noting that the actual total fees will depend on the amount of 
work required. 

We issue a Statement of Responsibilities (SOR) that sets out the responsibilities of both 
auditors and audited bodies. This document serves as the formal terms of engagement 
between auditors appointed by us and audited bodies. It summarises where the different 
responsibilities of auditors and of the audited body begin and end. 

Page 14

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk?subject=Representation%20about%20proposed%20auditor%20appointment
https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/2022-03-16-webinar-Final.pptx
https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/2022-03-16-webinar-Final.pptx
https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies-from-2023-24-audits/


Further information  

If you have any questions about our consultation process, please email us at 
ap2@psaa.co.uk. 

  

Yours sincerely  
Tony Crawley, Chief Executive, PSAA 

 

This email and any files transmitted with it are private and intended solely for the use of the 

individual or entity to which they are addressed. If you are not the intended recipient the e-

mail and any files have been transmitted to you in error and any copying, distribution or other 

use of the information contained in them is strictly prohibited. 

With the exception of matters relating to auditor appointments, on which PSAA 

communicates by e-mail, nothing in this e-mail message amounts to a contractual or other 

legal commitment on the part of PSAA unless confirmed by a communication signed on 

behalf of PSAA. All e-mails to anyone @psaa.co.uk are communications to the company and 

not private and confidential to any named individual. 

PSAA uses contact information for its stakeholders in relation to its statutory responsibilities 

as an appointing person. Further details are available from the privacy page of our website. 

PSAA's computer systems and communication may be monitored to secure the effective 

operation of the system and for other lawful purposes. Security and reliability of e-mails are 

not guaranteed. PSAA operates anti-virus programs but you must take full responsibility for 

virus checking this e-mail (including all attachments). PSAA does not accept any liability in 

respect of any damage caused by any virus which is not detected. 

 

Page 15

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk?subject=Query%20about%20the%20proposed%20auditor%20appointment
https://www.psaa.co.uk/legal/privacy/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

    Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Report for Finance and Audit Committee 
 

Date: 9 November 2022  

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2022/23 – Quarter Two 
 

Purpose and summary of report: 

To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2022/23, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity. 

To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements. 
 

Recommendation: 
 

1. This report is for information only 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of the 
report 
 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks 

Climate Change  No direct implications 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report therefore provides an 

Page 17 Agenda Item 6



2 

assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2022/23 financial year for 
the second quarter to 30 September 2022, as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances. In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include: 

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval; 

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders; 

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team. 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Revenue 

2.1. Significant projected movements against budget during Quarter Two are detailed in the 
report, with the most notable items falling in the “All Directorate” section, and relating to 
Homelessness, within the Housing Directorate. The wider financial context is explored in 
section 3.11. 

2.2. As reported in the 2021/22 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a 
favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £67,240 to be approved for carry forward 
into 2022/23. 

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is £9.05m, constituted of minimum working 
balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable Working Balances 
of £3.8m. 

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in earmarked reserves 
of £3.5m. Within this movement, £0.84m relates to a drawdown from the NNDR 
Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve and arises from Collection Fund accounting 
arrangements during 2021/22. Other significant movements, for example £0.9m within 
the Asset Enhancement Reserve, arise from 2021/22 budgets carried forward within the 
Capital Programme. 

Capital 

2.5 The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £79.52m, including £45.5m 
relating to The Charter, £8.9m for the St George’s Centre, £7.9m for a New Leisure 
Centre, and a combined £6.95m relating to Property/Land Acquisition schemes. Actual 
spend, as at the end of Quarter Two was £10.1m. Forecasted spend for 2022/23 as at 
Quarter 2 is £51.41m. 

3. REVENUE 

3.1. Budget 2022/23 

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2022/23 was £12,461,820, largely 
funded by a combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and 
Council Tax. Additionally, there was a requirement to use £1,453,370 of Usable Working 

Page 18



3 

Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy, to produce an 
overall balanced budget. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 September 
2022.  

Directorate / Budget Heading

Original 

Budget 

2022/23 (£)

Forecast 

2022/23 (£)

Variation 

2022/23 (£)

All Directorate 0 1,018,970 1,018,970

Chief Executive 188,270 188,270 0

Communities 3,677,440 3,722,570 45,130

Corporate Services 3,523,010 3,708,580 185,570

Environment 5,764,280 5,764,280 0

Housing 1,422,000 2,472,000 1,050,000

Items carried forward from 2021/22 0 67,240 67,240

Non-Directorate Specific 828,380 828,380 0

Interest and Investment Income (814,240) (1,189,240) (375,000)

Government Grant Funding (2,152,290) (2,152,290) 0

Transfers to/ (from) reserves (1,856,090) (1,901,990) (45,900)

Transfers to/ (from) balances 573,150 573,150 0

Transactions below the line 1,307,910 1,276,420 (31,490)

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 12,461,820 14,376,340 1,914,520

Business Rates Income (2,701,820) (2,701,820) 0

Council Tax Income (7,592,170) (7,592,170) 0

Parish Precepts (471,860) (471,860) 0

New Homes Bonus (573,150) (573,150) 0

Lower Tier & Services Grants (337,380) (337,380) 0

Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 667,930 667,930 0

Use of Working Balances (1,453,370) (1,453,370) 0

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 1,914,520 1,914,520  

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading 

3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – £1,019k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.2.1 A “Risks and Financial Pressures” paper was recently presented to Cabinet on 3 
October 2022, updating Members on the financial challenges facing the Council from the 
current economic situation. A link to the paper is here: Agenda for Cabinet on Monday, 3 
October 2022, 7.30 pm – Gravesham Borough Council 

3.2.2 As the majority of these financial pressures are Council-wide, and not limited to specific 
directorates, for the purposes of disclosure within this budget monitoring report, they are 
included within the “All Directorate” section. 

3.2.3   Energy Costs: £190k adverse variance – Wholesale energy costs have significantly 
increased in the last year, with continuing volatility anticipated in the short to medium 
term.  The energy requirements of the Council are procured through LASER Energy, 
which is part of the Commercial Services Group, a company wholly owned by Kent 
County Council. Energy prices are currently fixed until October 2022, so the impact of 

Page 19

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4863&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4863&Ver=4


4 

cost increases on unit price per kilowatt-hour is likely to be felt in the second half of the 
financial year. 

3.2.4   LASER has mitigated against a large proportion of the market extremes through its 
flexible procurement approach by purchasing energy requirements for its customers in 
advance. However, prices remain substantially high. Initial analysis indicates additional 
costs for 2022/23 of £190k; this will continue to be monitored closely during the current 
budget-setting process. 

3.2.5 Fuel Costs: £80k adverse variance – The Council operates over 120 vehicles in 
delivering a range of services to the residents of the borough. Fuel for vehicles is 
purchased at volume and stored at the Brookvale Depot site. Prices per litre have 
increased significantly over the last two years, from £0.88 per litre in March 2020, to 
£0.97 in March 2021 and £1.37 in March 2022. As at the end of August 2022, the price 
per litre of fuel was around £1.42. Given the pattern of price movements to date, it is 
anticipated that additional costs of around £80k will fall on the General Fund in 2022/23. 

3.2.6   Staff Pay: £749k adverse variance – The Council, like many other local authorities, 
budgeted for a 2% pay award within the 2022/23 budget-setting process. The Final pay 
offer from the National Employers for Local Government Services made in July 2022 
comprises of a basic salary increase on all scales of £1,925, plus an increase on other 
allowances of 4.04% for all grades up to Service Manager. 

3.2.7   If adopted, the impact of this proposal on the Council’s MTFP (including the effects on 
National Insurance and Pension Contributions and other allowances is estimated to be 
an additional cost of £749k in 2022/23 with subsequent inflationary impacts in future 
years.  The existing budgetary provision within the MTFP allows for 2% year-on-year 
increases, and thus applying this to the revised base cost in 2022/23 over the 10-year 
period as whole, would result in additional costs of just over £8.1m. 

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE 

3.3.1 There are no significant variances to report. 

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE – £45k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.4.1. Leisure Services: £45k adverse variance – In a similar fashion to general energy 
costs as described earlier, the Council’s budget is also feeling the impact of rising 
energy costs through the Management Fee received from Gravesham Community 
Leisure Limited (GCLL). Earlier in the year, GCLL invoked the clause in its contract 
which places a legal obligation on the council to adjust the management fee should the 
unit cost of utilities rise. Following analysis by the Council’s Finance Team, a reduction 
of £45k in the annual management fee for 2022/23 was agreed, with the situation 
continuing to be monitored going into the budget-setting period. 

 
3.4.2. Winter Light Festival: neutral variance – During August, a funding application was 

made to the Arts Council England for monies to support the Council’s Light Festival 
Programme. The bid has been successful with the Council due to receive £29,500 in 
grant funding to support this initiative. This funding will enable the Council to grow the 
activity of the inaugural event last year to encourage greater participation and 
involvement. 

3.4.3 The project will see the Council working with around 60 creatives/delivery partners, 
across nine locations and aims to be the beginning of a longer lasting legacy of Light 
Festivals on the Estuary.  The project culminates with 2 evenings of light and creativity 

Page 20



5 

at the end of January that will draw footfall into the town centre, thereby supporting the 
local business community. Areas of focus are the High Street, Borough Market, St 
George’s Arts Centre and gardens, the Pier, St Andrew’s quayside and St Andrew’s Arts 
Centre.  

 

3.5       CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £186k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.5.1 Interest Payable: £186k adverse variance – The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
have continued to increase the Bank of England Base rate from an all-time low of 0.10% 
in December 2021 to the current rate of 2.25% and is expected to increase rates further 
to around 5% by the end of the financial year.  This has pushed up borrowing rates to a 
level higher than was forecast at the time of setting the budget in February 2022 and 
considered at Quarter 1. Therefore, as a result, the current forecast cost of borrowing to 
support the General Fund proposed capital programme is currently resulting in an 
adverse variance of £186k.  If projects do not progress as initially anticipated, this will 
reduce the need to borrow and the associated borrowing costs. 

 
3.5.2    Document Management: Neutral variance – The Council’s “Information at Work” 

document management system is used across a number of Council departments, with 
key users being the Planning Policy and Revenues and Benefits teams. A sum of £21k 
has been released from revenue grants not yet applied to facilitate the latest upgrade to 
the system, which brings it up to date with the security patches and support for the latest 
Microsoft technologies. Additionally, as the system is browser based, it reduces the 
software footprint installed on devices, and therefore helps support the Council’s hybrid 
working practices. 

 
3.6       ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE 

3.6.1 Cycling Infrastructure Plan: Neutral variance – The Department for Transport has 
produced guidance on producing Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plans, 
together with tools to help with the process and provide guidance on design standards. 
Local Authorities are expected to produce these plans setting out their priorities for 
routes for both walking and cycling, and priorities for their implementation. Funding for 
the work has been obtained from Kent County Council and National Highways 
Designated Funds, resulting in an overall neutral variance for the Council. 
 

3.7       HOUSING DIRECTORATE – £1,050k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.7.1 Homelessness – Temporary Accommodation: £1,050k adverse variance – There 
has been a steady increase of households requiring homeless assistance. Within the 
last quarter there were 434 households presenting as they were homeless or in threat of 
being homeless within 56 days.  The numbers of households approaching in crisis has 
put a greater demand on temporary accommodation where the local authority owes 
legal duties to secure accommodation.  There are a number of factors that have 
impacted the Councils temporary accommodation figures including: 

 

 Relationship breakdown between couples (nonviolent), families & friends causing 
exclusions  

 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 – Since this Act was introduced on 5 July 2021 there 
has been more households presenting to the Council with the main reason of losing 
their last settled accommodation being domestic abuse or violence 

 Increase in private sector evictions (potential to increase with the Rent Reform Act 
as landlords struggle to meet obligations expected of them and therefore sell homes 
has seen a steady flow of customers presenting Section 8 and Section 21 Notices.   

Page 21



6 

 The cost of living increases making lower income households challenged with 
meeting their housing costs when in receipt of benefits and unable to afford the 
Private Rental Market 
 

3.7.2 The Service Manager is reporting monthly to Management Team and the service have 
increased the use of their own stock, however, there continues to be a reliance upon 
privately rented nightly paid accommodation. Temporary accommodation options 
continue to be explored for longer-term solutions. 
 

3.7.3 The Council received £352,470 Homeless Prevention Grant from Central Government, 
which alongside the existing original budget of £50,000 is being used to finance the cost 
of temporary accommodation. Additionally, income is being received from housing 
benefit receipts, however there is a substantial expenditure pressure which based on 
existing patterns to date, is projected to result in a net adverse variance of £1,050k in 
2022/23.  

 
3.8 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2021/22 – £67,240 

3.8.1 The following items from 2021/22 were approved for carry forward to 2022/23 by the 
Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund 2021/22 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2022/23

Environment Allotments £5,850 Site clearance

Environment Allotments £3,500 Wooden fencing damaged during Storm Eunice was 

temporarily replaced, but now requires a permanent solution.

Communities Safer Stronger Communities £4,250 Grant funding from KPCC - approved carry forward to 2022/23 

projects. If not spent on appropriate activities, grant funding 

would be required to be repaid.

Communities Base Camp £7,610 External funding to be used for appropriate event focus on 

Armed Forces. If not spent (or spent appropriately), repayment 

would be due.

Communities Altogether Stronger £37,910 External funding for food/music, community engagement 

events. If not spent (or spent appropriately), repayment would 

be due.

Communities Art Project £3,370 To cover production costs 2022/23.

Housing Homelessness £4,750 Grant funding relating to Syrian/Afghan refugees. If not spent in 

line with conditions, repayment would be likely.

Total carry-forward requests £67,240  

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2021/22 

 

 

 

3.9       INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £375k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.9.1    Following the recent increases in the Bank of England Base Rate and forecast rate rises 
for the remainder of the financial year; the income from the internally managed 
investments has been reviewed and is now expected to result in a favourable variance 
of some £375k 

Page 22



7 

 

3.10 FUNDING STREAMS – £77k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.10.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance –  
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £46k relates to reserve funded items as 
described within the individual Corporate Service, and Environment Directorate sections 
above. 
 

3.10.1 Transactions Below the Line – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £77k 
favourable variance – the MRP charge for 2022/23 is based on the Council’s 
cumulative capital spend that is financed from either internal or external borrowing up to 
the end of 2021/22.  As the capital spend in 2021/22 on schemes financed from these 
sources was lower than anticipated at the time of setting the 2022/23 budget, there is a 
resulting projected favourable variance relating to MRP in 2022/23 of £77k. 

 
  
3.11    Wider Unbudgeted Risks to the MTFP 

3.11.1 The council continues to work within a very challenging and uncertain financial 
environment compounded by the cost-of-living crisis, which has seen unprecedented 
rises in everyday costs in recent months.  
 

3.11.2 This continued uncertainty together makes medium term financial planning far more 
challenging than previously. The additional pressures listed below have not been 
reflected in the MTFP. 
 

3.11.3 It has recently been announced that inflation surged to 10.1% at the end of September 
and is expected to climb further, with the Bank of England estimating that inflation could 
reach 11% by the end of October. The General Fund has a provision of £250k in 
2022/23 to help tackle inflation increases, rising by £90k per annum thereafter. During 
the budget setting process for 2023/24 this will be reviewed to ensure an adequate 
provision is set for future years. 
 

3.11.4 The resulting impact of high inflation will put extra pressure on the Bank of England to 
increase interest rates at its next meeting in November. This will affect the councils cost 
of future borrowing should interest rates rise substantially. 
 

3.11.5 Increased external audit costs - the PSAA (Public Sector Audit Appointments) have 
recently published a report that suggests that it is highly likely that external audit costs 
could increase by up to 150% on current fees charges. For Gravesham this is likely to 
be an increased cost of around £65k, of which around £47k would fall on the General 
Fund, and £18k on the Housing Revenue Account. 
   

3.11.6 The Council's refuse vehicles are aging and resultantly are requiring increased repairs 
and maintenance.  Alongside this higher demand, the cost of replacing vehicle parts has 
increased substantially in recent months.  Consequently, the freighter parts and 
materials budget has already been fully utilised as at quarter two, and thus if 
expenditure continues at the same rate for the remainder of 2022/23, then there will be a 
significant overspend. 
 

3.11.7 St George’s Centre – As reported during Q1 work continues to establish the correct 
accounting treatment of the Council’s relationship with Aviva, the investor within the St 
George’s Centre transaction. In particular, this includes interest costs derived from the 

Page 23



8 

implicit interest rate within the arrangement, which are currently not included within the 
latest version of the MTFP. Once the accounting treatment is confirmed, updated 
projections for income and expenditure will be reflected within the MTFP, and reported 
in due course. 

3.11.8 Town Pier and Pontoon – The impending sale of the Town Pier and Pontoon is still 
going through the final legal process and a completion date is awaited. At the point at 
which the Council no longer owns these assets, the day-to-day revenue costs will no 
longer fall upon the Council, resulting in ongoing revenue savings, as well as generating 
a capital receipt. The impact of these changes will be reflected within the MTFP once 
the transaction has completed. 

3.12   WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES 

3.12.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances: 

Balance Brought Forward from 2021/22 11,841,270 

New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 573,150 

Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (1,453,370)

Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2021/22) (1,914,520)

Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2022) 

including Minimum GF Working Balance 9,046,530 

Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)

Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2022) 3,796,530 

Working Balances £

 

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances 

Page 24



9 

3.12.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives. The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast

General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2022 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 599 (46) 50 603 

Asset Enhancement Reserve 977 (900) 100 177 

Leisure Centres Reserve 47 (47) --  

Corporate Priorities Reserve 587 (128) 459 

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 136 (24) 12 124 

Elections Reserve 137 (5) 35 167 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 2,188 (841) 1,347 

IT Infrastructure Reserve 252 (170) 125 207 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 441 (573) 132 --  

 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,032 221 1,253 

NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 510 (376) 369 503 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 140 

Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 57 297 

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 

Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 (500) 200 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 661 97 758 

 Playgrounds Reserve 204 (160) 69 113 

Decriminalisation Reserve 269 (228) 41 

Enterprise Reserve 173 (358) 350 165 

Climate Change Reserve 423 (61) 362 

Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 10,216 (4,417) 1,617 7,416 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,723 (700) 1,023 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,939 (5,117) 1,617 8,439  

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves 
 

3.12.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.5.2 and 3.6.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



10 

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

4.1. The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two. This includes the revised original budget for 2022/23, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section 151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team. 

Scheme
2022/23 

Original 

Budget             

£

2022/23 

Approved 

Carry 

Forwards                        

£

2022/23 

Working 

Budget                    

£

2022/23 

Actual 

Expenditure       

£

Forecast as as 

at Quarter 2                      

£

Variance as at 

Quarter 2                      

£

Essential Repairs to Buildings 435,000 430,430 865,430 113,474 865,430 (751,956)

Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 14,830 (14,830)

Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 413,400 259,440 672,840 162,835 389,060 (226,225)

Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 (50,000)

New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 83,400 83,400 16,588 30,000 (13,412)

Waste & Horticulture back office system 0 59,860 59,860 20,245 30,000 (9,755)

Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 0 159,870 113,226 159,870 (46,644)

Property Acquisition Programme 0 4,000,000 4,000,000 3,500 2,940,000 (2,936,500)

Land Acquisiton Programme 2,945,790 0 2,945,790 0 441,000 (441,000)

Land Acquisition Dering Way 3,590,190 0 3,590,190 0 0 0

St George's Centre 9,019,640 (148,950) 8,870,690 0 0 0

Heritage Assets 331,570 52,880 384,450 20,316 84,450 (64,134)

Gym Equipment Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 47,800 (47,800)

Parking Machines 0 287,120 287,120 0 287,120 (287,120)

LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 18,600 (18,600)

LATCO working capital provision 170,260 0 170,260 66,623 170,260 (103,637)

Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Loan 1,364,000 0 1,364,000 514,502 1,380,410 (865,908)

Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 0 0 0

Purchase of Freighters 0 0 0 98,460 98,460 0

IT Infrastructure Assets 100,000 70,340 170,340 0 80,000 (80,000)

Rosherville Loan (The Charter) 45,439,010 59,880 45,498,890 8,293,509 39,573,890 (31,280,381)

Website Content Management System 0 37,170 37,170 23,117 28,220 (5,103)

New Leisure Centre 7,632,590 285,270 7,917,860 180,357 2,500,000 (2,319,643)

Electric Vehicle Charging Points 0 127,170 127,170 0 61,000 (61,000)

Disabled Facilities Grant 832,800 1,285,640 2,118,440 510,882 2,118,440 (1,607,558)

Alleyways 45,000 0 45,000 0 45,000 (45,000)

72,479,120 7,039,450 79,518,570 10,137,633 51,413,840 (41,276,207)  

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2022/23 

 

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – The asbestos removal at Fort Gardens toilet facilities 
is complete, work has now started on the refurbishment of these toilets.  Repairs and 
redecoration work at Fort Gardens bandstand is nearing completion.  The Civic Centre 
lift doors have been replaced during quarter two and the work being undertaken to the 
workshop roof at Brookvale is in its final stages.  
 

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – A number of improvements to the Cemeteries 
are currently underway and will be completed during 2022/23. 
 

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – Orders have been placed for 8 electric vans which 
are due to be delivered within the next few months.  A new 10-year vehicle replacement 
plan is currently being finalised to ensure the Council’s vans fleet is replaced to meet the 
Council Net Zero target. 
 

 Gatekeeper Replacement – A trial for removal of buses from King Street will not now 
take place following a response from Arriva.  As a consequence, KCC have been 
approached to include the King Street bus gate as part of their plans to undertake 
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) once legislation changes enabling them to 
do so have been enacted this Summer. 
 

Page 26



11 

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – The installation of wheelie bins in flats for 
recycling is underway and the wheelie bins are being purchased on a block-by-block 
basis.   Work will continue during 2022/23. 
 

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – Officers are currently reviewing new 
digital systems for the allotment service and updating some of the hardware for the 
Waste back office Bartec System. Updated mobile devices have been purchased for the 
refuse collection vehicles. 
 

 Replacement Playground Programme – Quarter Two saw the delivery of three new 
play sites at Rosherville Park, Istead Rise and Luddesdown.  The remainder of the 
budget will be spent on new play equipment at the Warren and Culverstone. 

 

 Property Acquisition Programme – The Property Acquisitions Cross Party Working 
Group met in May 2022 to consider a potential acquisition in the borough. Following this 
meeting officers have been progressing the acquisition, with completion likely to take 
place in October 2022. 

 

 Land Acquisition Programme – As agreed by Cabinet in March 2021, the Council has 
been in discussion with the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation regarding the 
acquisition of land to enable the Council to bring forward a comprehensive housing 
development at the junction of Ordnance Road and Milton Place.  During the quarter, 
activity regarding the purchase concluded, with the acquisition taking place in October 
2022. 
 

 St George’s Centre – There are currently no further works planned, pending a decision 
on taking forward the St. Georges Square regeneration project at the rear of the 
shopping centre (formally St Georges Phase II). 
 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Works continue at the site on Cross Lane West with 
funds continuing to be drawn down from the Council on a monthly basis. 

 

 Heritage Assets – Expressions of Interest have been submitted to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund, initially in respect of three assets, to inform next stages in respect of 
project applications.  In response to these, the Heritage Fund have asked that the 
community engagement/audience development aspects be developed further prior to re-
submission. 
 

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – Gym memberships and subsequent usage of the 
gym areas continue to recover from the lasting effects of Covid-19. Officers are currently 
working with GCLL on proposals for part replacement of fixed weight equipment and 
some spin bike replacements that were not part of the original gym equipment 
replacement programme in 2021. This is to ensure that the quality and quantity of 
equipment remains in good condition up to the end of the current contract in 2025. 
 

 Parking Machines – Installation of the new parking solutions will commence in January 
2023, with Rathmore Road car park going live first.  Implementation of the new 
equipment will commence in February 2023 for Milton Place/Ordnance Road car park 
and in March for Parrock Street.   The purchase order was raised in September for the 
whole project. 

 

 LATCO Development Costs – No requests to utilise these funds were received in the 
first half of 2022/23. 
 

Page 27



12 

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – In accordance with the decision taken by Cabinet 
in March 2022, working capital of £67k has been provided to Rosherville Repairs & 
Maintenance Limited to assist with initial company set-up costs. 

 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Points – As part of the Kent600 project with Connected 
Kerb there are three sites (total of 14 charge points) which are due to be completed by 
the end of October 2022 with another three sites (total of 10 charge points) due to be 
completed before the end of Q4. In addition to this BP Pulse are expected to complete 
the installation of an additional ten charging points in Parrock Street car park by the end 
of November 2022. Work has started on a new project to install a rapid charge point for 
use by taxis in Parrock Street. 

 

 Parking Software – The parking back-office system and virtual permit system has been 
in operation for a year now and has been paid in full. The Environmental Enforcement 
module has not yet been implemented as the role of the Environmental Enforcement 
team has changed since the start of the project. 

 

 Purchase of Freighters – The current replacement programme has been suspended 
until the results of the Consistency in Household Waste Consultation has been released 
so any potential effect to service delivery can be assessed. A replacement freighter 
ordered at the end of 2021/22 has been received in this financial year – the reserve 
draw down will be reviewed as part of the budget setting process. 
 

 IT Infrastructure Assets – During the last quarter, the Council have procured a new 
firewall, and this is currently being installed. The Council have also avoided a cost of 
£100,000 in replacement VDI hardware by adopting an alternate solution which is part of 
the existing virtual infrastructure, and therefore did not require extra equipment. 

 

 Rosherville Loan (The Charter) – Construction work continues on site with monthly 
drawdowns being made by Rosherville Property Development Limited in line with the 
expected cash flow projections. The site is expected to be complete in 2023. 
 

 Website Content Management System – The website migration project is now 
complete. 
 

 New Leisure Centre – The Council is currently working with the appointed design team 
on the preferred scheme for the forthcoming consultation process and planning 
application submission over the next few months. 
 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Points – As part of the Kent600 project with Connected 
Kerb there are three sites (total of 14 charge points) which are due to be completed by 
the end of October 2022 with another three sites (total of 10 charge points) due to be 
completed before the end of Q4. In addition to this BP Pulse are expected to complete 
the installation of an additional ten charging points in Parrock Street car park by the end 
of November 2022. Work has started on a new project to install a rapid charge point for 
use by taxis in Parrock Street. 
 

 Alleyways (GF) – The new alleyway programme has started with work commencing on 
the stage one programme. Alleys will be assessed during the year to determine whether 
they will require gating. The alley at Haynes Road has been cleared and a new gate 
installed.  There are currently two alleys which have been cleared where residents are 
working on obtaining support from neighbours in the area to gate these alleys. 
 
 

Page 28



13 

 Disabled Facilities Grants – There are 55 cases that have been received and 
processed within the first half of 2022/23. There have been 29 Hospital Discharge 
referrals, 20 of which have been completed. The service is seeing an increase in 
referrals and is currently looking at ways to ensure properties are maintained in an 
appropriate condition. Current expenditure across the overall programme is £511k, 
with several large DFG projects in progress with a committed spend of £110k. Due to 
the change in Energy Company Obligation and Sustainable Warmth funding no longer 
covering emergency boiler repair/replacement, the Council are offering a DFG heating 
grant for elderly and vulnerable clients without heating and hot water, who would have 
normally qualified for a DFG. This year the Council have funded 8 clients to a value of 
£42k. 
 
 

Page 29



14 

5. CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      

the future:     

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 

Balance           

01/04/2022                 

£

Actual    

Income        

2022/23                           

£           

Anticipated 

Use of 

Funding 

2022/23                                                          

£       

Projected 

Balance 

31/03/2023           

£

Capital Receipts (355,080) (88,670) 181,830 (261,920)

S106 Capital Contributions (832,170) 0 52,000 (780,170)

Capital Grants unapplied (96,390) 0 0 (96,390)

Total Capital Resources (1,283,640) (88,670) 233,830 (1,138,480)  

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2022/23 

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 

Balance           

01/04/2022                 

£

Actual      

Income        

2022/23                           

£           

Anticipated 

use of 

Funding 

2022/23              

£

Projected 

Balance 

31/03/2023              

£

Localised Council Tax Support (41,390) 0 0 (41,390)

Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)

Total Capital Grants Unapplied (96,390) 0 0 (96,390)  

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2022/23 

 

Page 30



5.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use. 

 

S106 Developer Contributions

General 

Fund             

£

HRA               

£

Third Party 

Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 

Income 

2022/23                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 

Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 

developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 

£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 

recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. The 

money can be spent on Singlewell Ward to deliver mitigation requested by 

Leisure Services.

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 

funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 

example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 

the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (2,670) (2,670) Funding is for a Traffic Regulation Order linked to parking.

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0.00 (150,000)

To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 

and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (37,790) 0 0 (37,790)

A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 

experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0 0 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 

improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 

'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (184,000) 0 0 (184,000)

To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 

such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station 0.00 (24,500) 0 (24,500)

Payable towards the provision of or major upgrade, refurbishment or improvement 

of Affordable Housing in the Borough of Gravesham.

Rosherville Property Development - NHS 

Contribution 0.00 0 (155,230) (155,230)

Refurbishment, configuration and/or extension of either Gravesend medical centre 

or the Springhead Health Centre

Rosherville Property Development - St Andrews 

Gardens (285,260) 0 0 (285,260) Towards the improvement of landscaping at St Andrew's Gardens.

Heritage Funds (29,030) 0 0 (29,030)

Purpose of implementing measures to enhance the interpretation of heritage 

assets.

Total S106 Contributions (807,670) (24,500) (237,900) (1,070,070)  

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2022/23 

P
age 31



Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2022/23 financial year, and 
assess full year projections to 31 March 2023. It also illustrates how the projected 
position affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the 
Council. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications 

Digital and website 
implications 

No direct implications 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications 

 

 

Page 32

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


MTFP V4 - BMR Q2 Appendix 1

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 12,532,620 13,469,520 13,789,960 14,007,360 14,287,450 14,573,230 14,864,690 15,161,990 15,465,190 15,774,480 16,061,150 

Vacancy allowance (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000)

Salaries (Net) 12,082,620 13,019,520 13,339,960 13,557,360 13,837,450 14,123,230 14,414,690 14,711,990 15,015,190 15,324,480 15,611,150 

Temporary Staff 416,680 450,520 425,010 433,500 442,170 451,010 460,040 469,240 478,640 488,220 497,980 

Wages 107,400 107,400 249,540 111,730 113,970 116,240 258,560 120,920 123,340 125,810 128,330 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,420,710 3,470,020 3,414,940 3,466,630 3,536,020 3,606,750 3,678,920 3,752,500 3,827,500 3,904,070 3,982,220 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,002,790 1,004,290 1,003,760 1,004,750 1,005,760 1,006,790 1,007,840 1,008,910 1,010,000 1,011,120 1,011,120 

Running Expenses 12,907,120 15,380,520 12,280,700 12,262,070 12,358,230 12,495,070 11,851,410 12,029,740 12,166,420 12,307,200 12,397,220 

Capital Financing 1,431,960 1,540,140 361,120 2,676,500 2,602,640 2,614,170 2,613,900 2,613,630 2,613,350 2,613,350 2,613,350 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy 14,870 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,197,060) (3,195,980) (3,180,680) (3,227,380) (3,278,840) (3,319,610) (3,384,640) (3,403,310) (3,436,040) (3,443,660) (3,464,330)

Other Government Grants (4,114,760) (4,419,270) (2,743,940) (2,768,820) (2,792,990) (2,817,650) (2,010,010) (2,035,670) (2,061,840) (2,088,530) (2,115,470)

Investment Income (814,240) (1,189,240) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000) (1,042,000) (1,072,000)

Fees & Charges (6,987,700) (7,769,350) (6,976,930) (7,079,690) (7,044,680) (6,891,910) (6,926,770) (6,906,800) (6,981,970) (7,017,180) (7,045,240)

Rental Income (4,405,500) (4,405,500) (4,551,810) (4,491,200) (4,768,450) (4,805,520) (4,866,620) (4,916,970) (4,922,060) (4,970,590) (5,005,030)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,408,010 2,822,820 1,777,370 704,350 202,000 1,089,540 333,000 172,000 172,000 178,000 178,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (1,856,090) (3,499,430) (1,695,580) 27,480 672,800 (124,180) 367,500 544,130 560,270 568,890 568,890 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 573,150 573,150 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 

Parish Precepts 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 12,461,820 14,376,340 13,758,110 16,738,590 16,943,750 17,590,020 17,826,250 18,158,740 18,533,230 18,939,610 19,266,620 

Business Rates Income (2,701,820) (2,701,820) (3,374,230) (3,445,100) (3,514,000) (3,584,280) (3,655,960) (3,729,080) (3,803,660) (3,879,740) (3,957,330)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

New Homes Bonus (573,150) (573,150) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Lower Tier & Services Grants (337,380) (337,380) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Council Tax Income (7,592,170) (7,592,170) (7,790,490) (7,994,090) (8,203,050) (8,417,430) (8,637,320) (8,862,800) (9,094,300) (9,331,920) (9,575,740)

Parish Precepts (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 667,930 667,930 184,870 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

(1,453,370) (1,453,370) (2,200,110) (2,296,420) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

--   1,914,520 --   2,424,830 4,298,550 4,660,160 4,604,820 4,638,710 4,707,120 4,799,800 4,805,400 

--   --   --   2,424,830 1,873,720 361,610 (55,340) 33,890 68,410 92,680 5,600 

Projected 

2031-32

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2030-31

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Original 

2022-23

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2024-25

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

P
age 33



MTFP V4 - BMR Q2 Appendix 1

2022-23 

Original

2022-23    

Projected

2023-24      

Projected

2024-25      

Projected

2025-26      

Projected

2026-27      

Projected

2027-28      

Projected

2028-29      

Projected

2029-30      

Projected

2030-31      

Projected

2031-32      

Projected

9,841,270 9,841,270 7,046,530 5,196,420 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 573,150 573,150 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (1,453,370) (1,453,370) (2,200,110) (2,296,420) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 8,961,050 8,961,050 5,196,420 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - (1,914,520) - (2,424,830) (4,298,550) (4,660,160) (4,604,820) (4,638,710) (4,707,120) (4,799,800) (4,805,400)

8,961,050 7,046,530 5,196,420 825,170 (3,473,380) (8,133,540) (12,738,360) (17,377,070) (22,084,190) (26,883,990) (31,689,390)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Corporate Priorities Reserve 586,860 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400 458,400

Asset Enhancement Reserve 977,220 177,340 227,340 327,340 427,340 527,340 627,340 727,340 827,340 927,340 1,027,340

Planning Policy Reserve 598,790 603,190 627,590 677,590 727,590 777,590 827,590 877,590 927,590 977,590 1,027,590

Leisure Centres Reserve 47,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Decriminalisation (General) 269,180 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720 40,720

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 135,980 124,480 112,980 101,480 113,980 126,480 138,980 151,480 163,980 176,480 188,980

Elections Reserve 137,000 166,960 61,960 96,960 131,960 166,960 61,960 96,960 131,960 166,960 201,960

IT Infrastructure Reserve 251,800 206,460 191,460 25,460 50,460 15,460 19,460 44,460 44,460 38,460 32,460

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 440,840 - - - - - - - - - -

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,032,670 1,254,020 - - 352,540 - 221,350 442,700 664,050 885,400 1,106,750

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 2,188,230 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530

Growth Fund Reserve 510,100 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410 503,410

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000

Playgrounds Reserve 204,280 113,160 101,910 75,660 74,410 75,160 88,910 117,660 186,410 255,160 323,910

Woodville Repairs Reserve 239,820 297,070 354,320 411,570 468,820 526,070 583,320 640,570 697,820 755,070 812,320

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 660,830 757,670 331,560 322,470 364,060 369,620 378,780 386,340 387,100 394,380 401,660

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve - - - - - - - - - - -

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

Climate Change Reserve 422,790 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440 361,440

Enterprise Zone Reserve 172,850 164,430 160,080 158,150 158,320 160,620 165,110 171,830 186,490 209,250 232,010

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 19,177,290 14,462,810 10,917,120 6,573,350 2,947,600 (1,836,740) (6,074,060) (10,168,640) (14,315,490) (18,546,400) (22,782,910)

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

P
age 34



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 178 01/07/22 30/06/23 Commonwealth Bank of Australia King & Shaxson Maturity 2.8100% -4,863,704.35

Deposit Fixed 179 11/07/22 12/12/22 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 2.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 180 12/08/22 11/08/23 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 3.1200% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 181 28/09/22 28/09/23 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 5.4000% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 182 29/09/22 29/03/23 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Tradition Maturity 4.5100% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 183 29/09/22 28/09/23 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Tradition Maturity 5.4300% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 159 05/11/21 04/11/22 Bank of Montreal King & Shaxson Maturity 0.7000% -8,000,000.00

Fixed Total 2.7231% -24,863,704.35

11 Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 2.0000% -2,100,000.00

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 2.1200% -2,097,623.30

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 2.1200% -2,812,376.70

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF HQ Cap 31/03/22 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 2.1000% -4,143,844.48

MMF Total 2.0900% -11,153,844.48

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -3,035,867.38

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -2,206,998.83

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -588,509.74

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,628,952.12

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,658,098.60

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,196,305.84

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,378,100.89

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -19,692,833.40

Deposit Total 1.6338% -55,710,382.23

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -55,710,382.23

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2022

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 19/10/22 13:21

P
age 35



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 19/10/22 13:21

P
age 36



 

Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 
 

Date: 9 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter Two 
2022/23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue and 
Capital budgets for 2022/23, including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary 
control activity. 

 
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may affect the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or Financial 
Statements. 

Recommendations: 

 

This report is for information only. 

 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this 
report. 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Succesfully Managing Key Business Risks 

Climate Change  No direct implications 

 
 

 

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the      
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an assessment 
of performance against approved budgets for the 2022/23 financial year for the first quarter 
to 30 September 2022 as well as updating Members on other key areas of financial 
performance.  
 

1.2 The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these actions 
include 

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval.  

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders. 

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management 
Team. 

 
 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

HRA (Revenue) 

2.1 At the end of Quarter Two, there is a forecast deficit of £846k on the HRA account.  
The General HRA Reserve had an opening balance of £729k at the start of the year, 
so after fully utilising this reserve, there is a remaining deficit of £117k which would 
require the use of the HRA’s working balance to rectify the position.  This would 
result in the HRA working balance being a projected £2.8m at year-end which is 
below the assessed minimum level of working balance as determined by the Director 
(Corporate Services) in her capacity as S151 Officer.  The £3m level has been 
determined as necessary to assist cash flow and mitigate against risks to the 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.  Actions to respond to this are set out in 
para 3.9.3 of this report.   

2.2 Housing Capital 

The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £26.5m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter two of £12.1m.  Capital budgets 
totalling £1.6m have been carried forward to 2022/23, relating to the maintenance of 
the Council’s housing stock and the New Build programme.   

3. Housing Revenue Account 

3.1 Budget 2022/23 

3.1.1 The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 2022.  
As of 30 September 2022, the forecast reflects an adverse variance of £522k.  
The main contributing factors are an increase in responsive repair costs and a 
loss of rent due to an increase in the number of property purchases under the 
Right to Buy scheme. 

Page 38



3 

 

        Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2022/23  

 

3.1.2 The HRA original budget for 2022/23 is £30,825,700.  An additional £63,260 has 
been carried forward from 2021/22.  The following items from 2021/22 were 
approved for carry forward to 2022/23 by the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s 
Management Team. 

 

                   Table 2: Housing Revenue Account revenue carry forwards - 2022/23 

 

3.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT – £172k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

Description
Original Budget 

2022/23 (£)

Forecast   

2022/23 (£)
Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 7,386,750 7,213,910 (172,840)

Repairs and Maintenance 7,832,530 8,330,830 498,300

Depreciation 6,965,120 6,965,120 0

Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 434,890 434,890 0

Capital Finance 8,206,410 8,125,410 (81,000)

Sub Total Expenditure 30,825,700 31,070,160 244,460

Rents of Dwellings (27,955,300) (27,714,620) 240,680

Other Rental Income (7,550) (7,550) 0

Service Charges (1,911,500) (1,901,820) 9,680

Non Dwelling Income (119,820) (119,820) 0

Intensive Management Fund - Income (434,890) (434,890) 0

Other Income (72,620) (45,620) 27,000

Sub Total Income (30,501,680) (30,224,320) 277,360

Contributions to/(from) reserves (324,020) (729,280) (405,260)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 116,560 116,560

Summary of HRA 2021/22 year end carry forward request

Directorate Service Amount Reason for Carry Forward request into 2022/23

Housing Housing Landlord Services 12,000       

Much of the planned training for  2021/22 could 

not be carried out due to covid restrictions

Housing Housing Landlord Services 4,000          

Increased tenant engagement activities are 

required as a result of increased engagement 

expectations set out in the Social Housing 

White Paper and Building Safety Bill.

Many engagement activities could not take 

place due to covid restrictions in 2021/22.

Housing Housing Landlord Services 7,975          

Many of the works planned could not be carried 

out due to the effects of covid causing delays in 

Contractors being able to get supplies

Housing S & M Horticulture 8,320          

Continuation of Green Space Improvements on 

Housing Estates programme

Housing Fire Door inspections 21,763       

Works commenced to carry out fire door 

inspections 21- 22, did not complete by end 

march 

Housing

Risk Assessment -remedial 

works
9,200          

Works commenced 21-22, these relate to works 

required to rectify defects/actions highlighted 

on risk assessments. 

Total Carry Forward Requests 63,258       

Page 39



4 

3.2.1 Vacancy Management: £197k favourable variance - the HRA staffing budget for 
2022/23 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year. It is anticipated 
that this will occur throughout the establishment from natural staff turnover within 
day-to-day business activities.  For the first six months to 30 Sept 2022, actual 
staffing spend was £198k lower than budgeted. This is due to difficulty in recruiting 
in a buoyant market. 

3.2.2 Caretaker budget – £25k Adverse Variance – The overspend on this budget line 
has occurred due to the cost of maintaining equipment rather than replacing, the 
increase cost of supplies and the additional cost of buying PPE for agency staff.  
Officers have indicated that a budget virement may be possible to cover the 
adverse variance but this had not been identified at the time of preparing this 
report. 

3.2.3 Council Tax on Void Properties: nil variance – The budget for Council Tax on 
Void Properties has been increased from £70k in 2021/22 to £105k 2022/23.  
However, given this area was overspent in 2021/22 by £140k, the current level of 
void properties and the turnaround time, this area is being monitored closely to 
highlight any variance at the earliest opportunity. 

3.3 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £498k ADVERSE VARIANCE  

3.3.1 Responsive Repairs: £467k adverse variance – The significant impact on the 
cost of repairs and maintenance due to national delays in the supply chain and the 
associated increase in material costs that is affecting both Contractors and the in-
house team continues to prove challenging. This coupled with the number of voids 
and size/scope of repair works required has resulted in an overspend.  The 
service started Quarter 1 with a backlog of work due to the severe winds in March, 
coupled with a high turnover of staff due to the construction market being so 
buoyant. 

3.3.2 The high number of voids, experienced during 2021/22 has continued.  Void works 
are carried out on these properties prior to them being available to re-let either by 
the in-house workforce or external contractors.  As at the end of Q2, the external 
contractor budget of £1.147m had been virtually fully spent on such works 
meaning reliance will be placed on the in-house workforce to undertake this work.  
However, the high number of vacancies within the in-house workforce potentially 
raises questions about their ability to manage such demand.  If void properties are 
not turned round quickly, there is not only a financial impact in terms of loss of rent 
and an increase in void council tax charges but there is a reduction in the number 
of properties available to let to tenants. 

3.3.3 At this stage of the financial year an adverse variance of £467k is reported, but the 
budget will be closely monitored throughout quarter 3 and during the year. 

3.3.4 Drainage: £31K adverse variance - An increase in contractor costs resulting in 
an overspend of £31k. 

3.4 Depreciation – NIL VARIANCE 

3.4.1 Depreciation: nil variance – In 2019/20 the Council’s housing stock was valued 
at £320.8m, following an external valuation, this increased to £409m in 2020/21 
(an increase of 27.5%).  Depreciation is the process of allocating the cost of an 
asset over its useful like, so the increase in the overall valuation in March 2021, 
increased the depreciation charge to the HRA to £8.6m in 2021/22 compared to 
£6.7m in 2020/21.  Whilst the depreciation charge credits the Major Repairs 
Reserve, which the Council is required to maintain and uses as a funding source 
for future capital works, a further increase in the valuation of the housing stock in 

Page 40



5 

March 2022 resulting in an even higher depreciation charge will place significant 
pressure on the HRA’s ongoing viability. 

3.4.2 Officers within Finance have reviewed the HRA’s depreciation policy and it has 
been agreed to amend the policy which in summary sees the housing assets split 
between land and buildings.  We are currently seeking agreement from the 
Council’s External Auditors to this change in policy.  Applying the revised policy 
would result in a depreciation charge of £5.040m, which would result in a 
favourable variance of £1.925m.  This is based on applying the UK housing index 
to the most recently agreed asset values but given the 2019/20 audit has yet to be 
concluded, this charge is subject to revision. 

3.4.3 The capital financing for 2022/23 was based on a depreciation charge of £6.965m 
and therefore a charge of £5.040m will result in a large element of the capital 
programme will be unfunded.  Therefore, it is proposed to increase the revenue 
contribution to capital by an equal amount to the reduction of £1.925m, which 
would result in nil overall impact on the account. 

 

3.5 Capital Financing - £81K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

 

3.5.1 External Interest Charges: £81k Favourable variance - The Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) have continued to increase the Bank of England Base rate from 
an all-time low of 0.10% in December 2021 to the current rate of 2.25% and is 
expected to increase rates further to around 5% by the end of the financial year.  
This has pushed up borrowing rates to a level higher than was forecast at the time 
of setting the budget in February 2022 and considered at Quarter 1.  However, 
despite the rising interest rates, there is a favourable variance of £81k against the 
original budget.  This is the result of a number of new build schemes that were 
included in the 2022/23 budget, not progressing as originally intended and 
therefore the need to take new borrowing has been delayed to later in the financial 
year.  If the new build schemes do not progress as currently anticipated, this will 
further reduce the need to borrow and the associated borrowing costs. 

 

3.6 RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £241k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.6.1 Rental Income: £241k adverse variance - Due to the increased number of 
properties being purchased under the Right to Buy scheme over and above the 
number assumed at budget setting, it is forecast that there could be a potential 
loss of rental income resulting in an adverse variance of £241k. 

3.7 SERVICE CHARGES - £10k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.7.1 Service Charges on Dwellings: £10k adverse variance – The increased 
number of properties being sold under the Right to Buy scheme will also result in a 
loss of service charge income on dwellings of around 10k. 

3.8 OTHER INCOME – £27k ADVERSE VARIANCE  

3.8.1 Other Income: £52K adverse variance – As with rental income on dwellings 
there is an expected shortfall on other income.  Lettings income is down and whilst 
this was taken into account at budget setting, it is anticipated that there will be 
further losses. 

Page 41



6 

3.8.2 Interest Earned: £25k favourable variance – Additional investment income is 
due to the HRA following increases in the Bank of England Base Rate resulting in 
an favourable variance by end of the financial year of some £25k. 

 
3.9 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES 

3.9.1 The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:  

 

Table 3: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances 

 

3.9.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary 
of the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA 

3.9.3 The forecast deficit of £846k on the HRA is above the amount available in the 
HRA General Reserve.   The HRA does not have any other resources from which 
the balance of funding required can be met and therefore the remaining £117k will 
reduce the HRA Working Balance to £2,883k which is below the minimum level of 
working balance as determined by the Director (Corporate Services) in her 
capacity as S151 Officer.  The £3m level has been determined as necessary to 
assist cash flow and mitigate against risks to the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan.  There is still time to reverse this position and therefore it is 
imperative that the following actions are taken within the coming weeks and 
months 

 All non-essential expenditure to cease 

 All budget lines to be reviewed to identify budget underspends which can 
provide a source for virements to fund expenditure which is forecast to be 
above the original budget, approval for which will be agreed in line with the 
Council’s constitution 

 All expenditure to be reviewed to identify further opportunities to capitalise 
costs where allowable 

 The purchase order approval process to be reviewed 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 

Balance 

01/04/2022

Contributions                   

(Income)

Use of 

Reserve 

(Expenditure)

Balance 

31/03/2023

£ £ £ £

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (729,280) 0 729,280 0

Total (729,280) 0 729,280 0

Page 42



7 

 Purchase card holders and their corresponding expenditure limits to be 
reviewed 

 All staff vacancies and current recruitment to be reviewed 

 Lettings policy for new build developments to be considered 

 

4 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

4.1 The Housing Capital programme for 2022/23 is £25,725,960. This budget includes 
£1,666,990 that has been carried forward from 2021/22. 

4.2 The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s stock in 2022/23, with a working budget of 
£6,515,190 earmarked for this purpose within the Replacement, Improvement, Health 
& Safety Works and Major Void Works Programmes.  A further £250,000 was set 
aside to deal with the refurbishment of major void properties.  An additional 
£1,738,840 capital budgets have been agreed to provide the replacement Housing 
Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play Equipment.  The council also 
continues its commitment to energy efficiency with £1,476,980 allocated for this 
purpose and a further £1,235,000.  The New Build programme continues its 
prominence with £14,734,120 budgeted in 2022/23. 

4.3 As at the end Quarter two, £12.1m has been spent or committed against the capital 
schemes detailed below.  Officers will continue to monitor the impact of Covid-19 as 
well as the current fiscal and economic situation on the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

 

Table 5: Housing Capital Programme  

4.4 The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter Two 
2022/23. 

4.5 Replacement Programmes (Ref A) – £30k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

4.5.1 Rates for materials have increased significantly, partially offset by capitalised 
staff costs. 

 Kitchen renewals: 23 completed on programme, 108 completed on voids 
programme.  Further 28 either pending or in progress on planned programme 

Ref No: Project
2022/23 Original 

Budget  (£)

2022/23 Approved 

C/fwd (£)

2022/23 Working 

Budget (£)

Expenditure 

Including 

Commitments 

(£)

Forecast as at 

Q2 (£)

Variance as 

at Q2 (£)

A Replacement Programmes 3,368,290 286,630 3,654,920 2,441,780 3,684,920 (30,000)

B Improvement Programmes 1,921,870 101,570 2,023,440 1,012,826 1,708,440 315,000

C Health & Safety Works 801,190 35,640 836,830 382,939 644,830 192,000

D Major Void Works 250,000 0 250,000 210,639 550,000 (300,000)

E New Build & Acquisions 13,863,470 870,650 14,734,120 6,094,537 7,718,200 7,015,920

F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 (10,160) 589,840 284,553 589,840 0

G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 0 127,500 67,001 127,500 0

H Bin Housing 49,470 120 49,590 17,595 35,590 14,000

I CCTV 30,000 19,620 49,620 17,345 33,620 16,000

J Fire Doors 806,580 214,920 1,021,500 921,198 1,021,500 0

K LAD2 Grant 0 148,000 148,000 0 63,000 85,000

L Energy Efficiency 1,888,650 0 1,476,980 661,129 1,476,980 0

L Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund 0 0 1,235,010 0 1,235,010 0

M Structural Surveys 100,000 0 100,000 0 100,000 0

N Indepedendent Living Area Upgrades 116,950 0 116,950 0 116,950 0

O Cycle Storage 30,000 0 30,000 0 30,000 0

P Alleyways HRA 105,000 0 105,000 14,420 14,000 91,000

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 24,058,970 1,666,990 26,549,300 12,125,961 19,150,380 7,398,920

Page 43



8 

 Bathroom renewals: 94 on voids programme Further 8 in progress on planned 
programme 

 Windows and door renewals: 20 properties completed, 46 properties either in 
progress or pending on current programme 

 Roofing: 18 properties completed, 43 properties and 2 blocks either in progress 
or pending in current programme.  

 Electrical tests: 463 properties completed, 748 either in progress or pending in 
current programme  

 Electrical tests: 21 blocks completed, 31 either in progress or pending in 
current programme 
 

4.6 Improvement Programmes (Ref B) – £315k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

4.6.1 Reactive boiler works in quarter two has been below expected levels due to 
improved boiler programmed work in previous years.  This coupled with some 
work being carried out under energy & sustainability and less work carried out 
on communal areas has resulted in a favourable variance of £315k.  Work to be 
carried out flooring at Ebbsfleet Walk and Carl Ekman House, and Carl Ekman 
House entrance improvements. 

 Central heating systems/boilers installations: 
o 147 completed on programme, 119 either in progress or pending 

in current programme  
o 7 boilers installed on re-active (boilers not on a planned 

programme, but broken down and beyond economically repair or 
unable to repair to repair), £130k forecast for remaining reactive 
spend  

 Major refurbishments: 9 properties completed 

 Aids & Adaptions works: 
o Wet room installations: 11 completed,24 either in progress or 

pending in current programme 
o Over bath showers: 1 completed 4 either in progress or pending 

in current programme 
o Domestic stair lifts installations: 17 completed, 12 either in 

progress or pending in current programme 
 

4.7 Health & Safety Works (Ref C) – £192k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 
 

4.7.1 Lift replacement work that will not be completed in the current financial year will 
result in an underspend on this heading.  However the unspent budget is to be 
rolled over into 23/24.  This underspend will not result in a saving. 

 

 Fire detection installations in general let properties: 207 completed, 
891 either in progress or pending in current programme 

 Fire detection installations in sheltered properties: 62 completed, 57 
either in progress or pending in current programme 

 Upgrades to door entry systems: 7 sites completed, works either in 
progress or planned to: 
o Upgrade door entry systems at 2 further sites  
o Digital switchover at 14 sheltered sites 

 LED Emergency lighting upgrades carried out at 4 blocks 

 Fire rated front door replacements to flats: 234 installed, 164 either in 
progress or pending in current programme 

 Carl Ekman works in progress to upgrade balconies to meet current 
standards 

 
4.8 Major Void Works (Ref D) - £300k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

Page 44



9 

 
4.8.1 Due to the increase in inflation, cost are rising beyond what has been budgeted 

for. This coupled with the expected continuation in increase in major voids 
needing extensive work  will lead to an overspend on major works. This adverse 
variance at this level can be offset by savings generated on the replacement and 
Improvement programmes. 

4.9 New Build and Acquisitions (Ref E) – £7m FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 
 

4.9.1 In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of 
the Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build 
and/or acquisition of additional social housing. 

4.9.2 From 1 April 2021, MHCLG amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of 
additional housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from 
the previous limit of 30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only 
required to fund the remaining 60% of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the 
requirement to spend RTB receipts from three to four years after they are 
generated. 

4.9.3 The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been 
delivered since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the 
number of additional properties, which are at various stages of delivery within the 
current programme.  To date, the total number of new Council homes completed, 
under construction or with planning permission is 170.  The Housing 
Development Team continue to work on a pipeline of potential development sites 
to increase the supply of social housing. 

 

Table 6: New Build Delivery 

4.9.4 The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 2: 

 Whitehill (Admiral Beatty House) and Nansen Road – Scheme completed July 
2021; comprising of 8 x 3 bed 5 person houses and 24 x 1 bed & 2 bed 
apartments. Retention being withheld until latent defect works have been 
completed and an end of defects inspection has been carried out.  

 

 St Patrick’s Gardens (Bishops Court) – Completed 14 March 2022. 
Comprising of 22 x 1 bed & 2 bed apartments and 1 x 2 bed wheelchair 
dwelling, including play equipment installed to new amenity space. In defects 
liability period until March 2023. 

 

 Valley Drive (340/Mariner Court) – Works continuing on site with completion 
expected December 2022. The scheme will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for 
over 55’s including x4 wheelchair compliant homes to Block A and 15 x 1 bed 

HRA Property Development Stage
Number of 

Properties

Delivered and Completed 116

Under Construction 54

Planning Permission Granted 0

Feasibility/Concept Design 84

Total Number of HRA Properties 254

Investment Partnership Feasibilities (Tenure TBC) 412

Page 45



10 

& 2 bed apartments for general needs and 1 x 3 bed wheelchair dwelling to 
Block B. 

 

 Constable Road / Rembrandt Drive– Properties completed 30 May 2022. 
Terrace of 6 x 1 bed bungalows and 1 x 1 bed wheelchair compliant 
bungalow. The new play area completed July 2022; scheme in defects liability 
period until May 2023. 

 

 Armoury Drive – The former Milton Barracks site under construction 
comprising of 2 x 1 bed detached bungalows and 4 x 2 bed apartments. 
Works have currently been suspended on site following the discovery of a 
below ground chamber. Testing and remediation strategy to be submitted to 
colleagues in Environmental Health and Planning by the end of October. New 
revised programme has been issued with completion expected December 
2023  

 

 St Columba’s Close – Currently under redesign the scheme will comprise of 
13 x 1 bed and 21 x 2 bed apartments, 7 x 3 bed houses and 4 x 4 bed 
houses with general improvements to the public realm and existing blocks of 
flats. Community engagement has commenced with design works ongoing 
and a planning submission expected Winter 2022. 

 

 Worcester Close- Pre app meeting was held on 1 July 2022. The scheme 
presented to Planning currently consists of 4 x 1 bed and 4 x 2 bed flats. 
Feedback indicates that further re design and surveys need to be carried out 
prior to a planning application 

4.9.5 The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt 
incurred in 2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As of 1 April 2022, the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use 
any balance from the RTB Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build 
projects, ahead of any other funding source, as this can either be used to repay 
debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.9.6 Table 7 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To 
Buy properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required 
to deliver the New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs 
to be delivered to avoid having to return funds to Central Government. 

Page 46



11 

 

Table 7: New Build 

 

4.10 Housing Computer System (Ref F) – NIL VARIANCE 
 

4.10.1 The new housing system went live on 12 September. The first phase focuses on 
Income and Housing Management and enables Housing Income Staff to 
streamline the arrears process, with staff only having to use one system as 
opposed to several.  It also provides Housing and Independent Living Officers 
with a far more effective housing management system, allowing for far more 
processes and actions to be completed whilst out on our estates and with our 
tenants and enabling staff to spend more time out on our housing estates.  The 
second phase will focus on asset management, leasehold management, an 
improved digital offering for our residents and an extension to the iPad enable 
Business Process Mapping (BPM) so that more of what the Independent Living 
Officers do can be done directly into the system 
 

4.10.2 The 2022/23 projected outturn is still to be confirmed, at present we are 
expected to be just under budget but the value is subject to the initial invoice 
from supplier which has not yet been received. Further updates will be provided 
in future reports. 

 
4.11 Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.11.1 Carl Ekman house playground has been completed and works at Wallis Park are 

in progress.  Consultation is ongoing in regards to equipment aimed at older 

One for one 

receipts retained

GBC 70% 

contribution 

to new build

Value of new build expenditure 

expected

Cumulative value 

of new build 

expenditure 

expected

Date of new 

build 

expected by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-22

2017-18

Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-22

Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-22

Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-22

Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-23

2018-19

Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-23

Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-23

Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-23

Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-24

2019-20

Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-24

Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-24

Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-24

Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-25

2020-21

Q1 474,550 1,107,280 1,581,830 46,193,960 30-Jun-25

Q2 39,580 92,350 131,930 46,325,890 30-Sep-25

Q3 400,460 934,410 1,334,870 47,660,760 31-Dec-25

Q4 560,850 1,308,650 1,869,500 49,530,260 31-Mar-26

2021-22

Q1-Q4 3,072,252           4,608,379      7,680,631                                        57,210,891           31-Mar-27

17,931,320         39,279,570    57,210,890                                      

Page 47



12 

children and will be concluded in Quarter 3m which could potentially result in a 
saving of £15k.  Savings are also expected on works at Gravesham & 
Homemead which are being reprogrammed into next year so they can be carried 
out as part of a larger scope of work on the estate.  
 

4.12 Bin Housing (Ref H) – £14k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 
 

4.12.1 To support the Council’s Climate Action Plan and to work with council tenants to 
improve recycling rates across the Borough, a survey of all bin areas has been 
undertaken taking into account ease of disposing of waste, recycling and fly 
tipping issues to ensure the best use of capital budget.  Forder House has been 
identified as the priority in Quarter 3 with works estimated to cost £18,000.  No 
further spend is anticipated in 2022/23. 
 

4.13 CCTV (Ref I) – £16k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 
 

4.13.1 Following the introduction of monitored CCTV last financial year, work has been 
undertaken to look at priorities to be delivered during the rest of the financial 
year, considering new schemes and cameras which may need to be upgraded.  
This financial year there will be some upgrades at Wallis Park which is estimated 
at £6,000.  No further spend is anticipated this financial year. 

 
4.14 Fire Doors (Ref J) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.14.1 The HRA is currently in its second year of replacing all of the flat entrance fire 

doors to ensure they meet the latest fire safety standards.  The programme for 
year two includes 337 new doors to the independent Living schemes. 

 
4.15 LAD2 Grant (Ref K) - £85k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

 
4.15.1 BEIS has awarded grant funding of £297,000 towards the cost of insulating some 

of the Council’s housing stock (approx. 100 homes). The Council is contributing 
a further £148,000 towards the project. Total spend by GBC is below level 
initially anticipate. 

 
4.16 Energy Efficiency (Ref L) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.16.1 The following projects have been initiated, and a number of surveys and 

feasibility studies are in progress 
 

 Ground Source Heat Pump: works in progress at Merston and Hermitage 
works pending at Springvale Court 

 Solar Panels installation: works in progress at Carl Ekman and Chantry Court 

 Vehicle charger: works completed to install a vehicle charger at Bishops Court 
and Carl Ekman 

 
4.16.2 Property specific energy efficiency measures 

 

 95 St Gregory’s Crescent – solar panels, air source heat pump 

 6 Haysmead – solar panel, air source heat pump 
 

4.16.3 Social Housing Decarbonisation Works: 
 

 Programme heavily focused on cavity and loft insulations with a contract in 
place for: 
o Loft insultations: 126 Completed, further 224 in progress or pending 
o Cavity Wall: 49 completed, further 161 in progress or pending 

Page 48



13 

 
4.17 Structural Surveys (Ref M) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.17.1  A programme of 50 blocks has been identified for this financial year and we are 

currently halfway through the programme.  The undertaking of planned structural 
surveys allows for any defects that are identified to be dealt with at an early 
stage and so far no remedial work has been identified and therefore there maybe 
savings from this budget line dependent on the second half of the programme. 

 
4.18 Independent Living Area Upgrades (Ref N) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.18.1  The Independent Living team is currently in the process of putting together a 

programme of works in conjunction with the Planned Work team for this capital 
scheme which will commence later in the financial year once the replacement fire 
doors have been completed.  The focus of the programme is to provide modern, 
comfortable facilities for the residents to enjoy. 

 
4.19 Cycle Storage (Ref O) – ~NIL VARIANCE 
 
4.19.1 To support the Council’s Climate Action Plan to work with council tenants to 

promote active travel options, cycle storage will be installed on some of our 
estates, starting with St Patricks Gardens.  No variance is anticipated as at Q2. 

 
4.20 Alleyways HRA (Ref P) – NIL VARIANCE 

 
4.20.1  Housing Management are working closely with Waste Management on a plan 

for the priority areas to be delivered this financial year, in order to compliment 
and build on the good work being carried out. A number of Housing owned 
alleyways have been cleared including Haynes Road which has allowed 
vehicular access for local residents and a gate has been installed to stop 
unauthorised access. 

 
5 Capital Resources – TO FOLLOW /UPDATE 

 
5.1 Table 8 below, shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The 

use of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances 
forward, as indicated in this report. 

 

 
Table 8: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2022/23 

 
 

6 HRA Business Planning 
 

6.1 The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into 
account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants 

Housing Capital Resources

Opening 

Balance 

01/04/2022

Actual 

Income 

2022/23

Forecast Use 

of Funding 

2022/23

Final 

Balance 

31/03/2023

£ £ £ £

Capital Receipts - HRA (1,381,770) (259,490) 1,047,500 (593,760)

Capital Receipts - GF Housing (135,390) 0 0 (135,390)

Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)

Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (453,950) (5,040,400) 5,222,770 (271,580)

Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) (188,540) 258,240 0

New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,582,820) (3,247,960) 1,739,930 (8,090,850)

Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (989,620) 898,330 (91,290)

Social Housing Decarbonisation Grant 0 (823,340) 823,340 0

Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 24,500 0

Total (12,221,130) (10,549,350) 10,014,610 (12,755,870)

Page 49



14 

and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget 
resulting from Management Team and Cabinet decisions. 
 

6.2 The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles 
identified in the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the 
New Build Programme beyond the existing three-year scheme based on the current 
assumption on the number of Council Houses sold per annum. 
 

6.3 The latest version of the HRA Business Plans for revenue and capital are attached to 
this report at Appendices one and two.  
 

6.4 The current version of the HRA Business Plan reflects the assumption that there will 
be an increase in the number of properties sold under the Right to Buy scheme 
compared to the budgeted assumption of 20 per annum.  Inflationary increases year 
on year have also been reviewed to reflect the current challenging economic 
conditions and supply chain issues. 

 
6.5 Officers will continue to work on the Business Plan in conjunction with colleagues in 

Housing to review and assess the impact of other base assumptions within the 
model. 
 

7 Wider Unbudgeted Risks to the HRA 
 
7.1 The council continues to work within a very challenging and uncertain financial 

environment compounded by the cost-of-living crisis, which has seen unprecedented 
rises in everyday costs in recent months. This continued uncertainty makes financial 
planning far more challenging than previously.  
 

7.2 It has recently been announced that inflation surged to 10.1% at the end of 
September and is expected to climb further, with the Bank of England estimating that 
inflation could reach 11% by the end of October. The resulting impact of high inflation 
will put extra pressure on the Bank of England to increase interest rates which will 
increase the cost of borrowing and add to the challenges on the council’s finances. 
 

7.3 A “Risks and Financial Pressures” paper was recently presented to Cabinet on 3 
October 2022, updating Members on the financial challenges facing the Council from 
the current economic situation. A link to the paper is here: Agenda for Cabinet on 
Monday, 3 October 2022, 7.30 pm – Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 
Appendices 

The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix one - Revenue Business Plan  

 Appendix Two - Capital Business Plan   

Background Documents  

There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:  Alexandra Jarvis 

Email:  alexandra.jarvis@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 50

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4863&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4863&Ver=4


15 

 
  

Page 51



16 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 
30 September against the original budget set for the 2022/23 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications. 

Digital and website 
implications 

No direct implications. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications. 

 

Page 52

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q2
HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2022.23 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31 2031.32
Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure
Replacement Programmes
Kitchen 988 959 1,155 1,202 1,250 1,281 1,313 1,346 1,379 1,414 1,223
Bathroom 225 279 263 274 285 292 299 307 314 322 330
Doors & Windows 631 635 652 678 705 722 741 759 778 797 817
Roofing Replacements 944 944 1,042 1,083 1,127 1,155 1,184 1,213 1,244 1,275 1,306
Electrical Testing 868 868 829 862 897 919 942 966 990 1,014 1,040
Improvement Programmes
Modernisation & Reconfigurations 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Communal Improvements 421 421 493 512 533 546 560 574 588 603 618
Insulation Works 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Heating Installations 937 637 1,053 1,095 1,138 1,167 1,196 1,226 1,257 1,288 1,320
Capital Services & Projects 113 113 93 97 101 103 106 108 111 114 117
Aids and Adaptations 537 537 610 635 660 677 694 711 729 747 766
Health & Safety Works
Fire Precaution Works 493 493 540 561 584 598 613 629 644 660 677
Asbestos Management 0 (3) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Door Entry/Warden 102 102 114 119 123 126 130 133 136 140 143
Major Lift Refurbishments 142 (7) 166 172 179 184 188 193 198 203 208
LED Emergency Lighting 101 61 118 123 128 131 134 138 141 144 148
Major Voids 250 550 307 335 366 394 424 435 446 457 2,039
Additional Stock Condition Schemes
Energy Efficiency Saving Schemes 1,889 1,477 2,210 2,298 2,390 2,450 2,511 2,574 2,638 2,704 2,772
Social Housing Decarbonisation 0 1,235 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduction in capital programme 0 0 (2,537) (2,898) (3,031) (2,995) (3,090) 0 0 0 0
Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 8,654 9,300 7,107 7,148 7,434 7,750 7,944 11,310 11,593 11,882 13,524

Other Capital Expenditure
Housing Computer System 590 590 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Play Equipment 128 128 149 155 161 165 170 174 178 183 187
Bin Housing 50 36 58 60 63 64 66 67 69 71 73
CCTV 50 34 35 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44
Fire Doors 1,022 1,022 944 981 1,021 1,046 1,072 1,099 1,127 1,155 1,184
LAD2 Grant Scheme 148 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Structural 100 100 117 122 127 130 133 136 140 143 147
Sheltered Communal Uprades 117 117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cycle Storage 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Alleyways - HRA 105 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 2,338 2,132 1,303 1,355 1,409 1,444 1,481 1,518 1,555 1,594 1,634

New Build Expenditure
Purchases from the Market 0 1,973 1,750 800 800 800 800 800 824 849 0
Whitehill Road 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Valley Drive 0 4,398 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
St Patricks Gardens 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 318 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Armoury Drive 0 872 402 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
New Build Project Management 0
147 Wortham Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
St Columba's 0 134 5,500 5,000 500 0 0 0 0 0 0
Off Plan Purchases 0 0 2,756 2,756 2,576 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mountfields 0 0 3,588 3,264 324 0 0 0 0 0 0
Worcester Drive 0 76 1,829 235 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Developing New Schemes (inc Milton Place) 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
New Build 14,734 (61) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
New Build Expenditure Total 14,734 7,718 16,325 12,055 4,200 800 800 800 824 849 0

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 25,726                 19,150 24,735 20,558 13,043 9,995 10,225 13,627 13,972 14,325 15,158

Financing
HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
MRR (7,857) (5,481) (9,249) (8,097) (8,340) (8,591) (8,848) (9,114) (9,387) (9,669) (9,959)
RTB - Allowable Debt (530) (898) (1,109) (1,047) (1,076) (1,045) (1,016) (1,352) (1,203) (1,236) (1,271)
RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Capital receipts (1,159) (1,048) (786) (229) (232) (39) (40) (630) (241) (244) (246)
Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
HRA General Reserve/RCCO (574) (2,310) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RTB - 141 Receipts (4,265) (1,740) (5,186) (3,782) (1,576) (320) (320) (320) (330) (339) 0
Capital Grant 0 (823) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
S106 0 (25) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Borrowing (11,341) (6,826) (8,405) (7,402) (1,819) 0 0 (2,211) (2,812) (2,837) (3,682)
Total Financing (25,726) (19,150) (24,735) (20,558) (13,043) (9,995) (10,225) (13,627) (13,972) (14,325) (15,158)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Original 
Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2022.23 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31 2031.32
Expenditure
Supervision and Management 7,387 7,214 8,293 8,667 8,926 9,104 9,286 9,472 9,662 9,855 10,052
Repairs and Maintenance 7,833 8,331 7,882 7,688 8,022 8,329 8,538 8,751 8,970 9,194 9,424
Depreciation 6,965 6,965 7,749 8,097 8,340 8,591 8,848 9,114 9,387 9,669 9,959
Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 435 435 479 496 506 516 527 537 548 559 570
Capital Finance 7,632 5,815 8,311 9,551 9,548 9,631 9,696 9,745 9,090 9,195 9,178
RCCO 574 2,310 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Expenditure 30,826 31,070 32,713 34,500 35,342 36,172 36,895 37,619 37,656 38,471 39,182

Income
Rents of Dwellings (27,955) (27,715) (29,673) (31,590) (32,504) (33,116) (33,735) (34,362) (34,996) (35,638) (36,288)
Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8)
Service Charges (1,912) (1,902) (2,126) (2,221) (2,287) (2,355) (2,426) (2,498) (2,572) (2,649) (2,728)
Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120)
Intensive Housing Management  - Income (435) (435) (479) (496) (506) (516) (527) (537) (548) (559) (570)
Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (73) (46) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73)
Total Income (30,502) (30,224) (32,479) (34,507) (35,498) (36,188) (36,887) (37,597) (38,316) (39,046) (39,786)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (324) (729) 0 7 156 16 (8) (22) 660 575 603

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 117 234 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances
B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 2,883 2,649 2,656 2,812 2,828 2,828 2,828 3,488 4,063
Variances per budget report (324) (846) (234) 7 156 16 (8) (22) 660 575 603
Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,676 2,154 2,649 2,656 2,812 2,828 2,821 2,806 3,488 4,063 4,666
Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 324 729 0 0 0 0 8 22 0 0 0
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 2,883 2,649 2,656 2,812 2,828 2,828 2,828 3,488 4,063 4,666

HRA General Reserve
Opening Balance 729 729 0 0 7 163 179 171 149 809 1,384
Use of HRA General Reserve (324) (729) 0 0 0 0 (8) (22) 0 0 0
Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 7 156 16 0 0 660 575 603
Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 405 0 0 7 163 179 171 149 809 1,384 1,987

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 9 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Mid-Year Review of the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee with mid-year progress information 
in respect of all risks recorded in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register, which can be found 
at Appendix II of this report.   
 
Recommendations: 

Members are requested to: 
1. Note progress as set out in Appendix III. 
2. Voice any concerns regarding the extent of progress that has been made. 
3. Start preparing for the development of the 2023-2024 Corporate Risk Register. 

 
 

 

Key Implications:   

Item Implications 

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register, which highlights the 
potential issues associated with proposed legislative changes that 
may affect the council moving forward.  Senior Management are 
being kept up to date with legislative change to ensure that they are 
able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess how 
these may affect the council.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from 
the Corporate Risk Register itself. 

‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key 
corporate risks identified within the Corporate Risk register and a 
specific update against this risk is included within appendix II.  

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor strategic 
risks contribute to the delivery of Corporate Plan Objective #3: 
Progress: drive service improvement and corporate governance.  

Climate Change  N/A 

 

Page 57 Agenda Item 8



 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1   Finance and Audit Committee have a responsibility to monitor the effective 
development and operation of risk management and corporate governance at 
Gravesham Borough Council.  

1.2 The 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register has been approved by Full Council on 
12th April 2022 and a copy of the register is attached at Appendix II of this report 
for information.   

1.3 During development of the register, the six strategic risks listed below scored 
above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold, these risks and relevant details are 
recorded in the register.  

1) Ongoing financial viability of the council. 
2) Changes in national priorities and legislative change. 
3) Organisational capacity/resilience. 
4) Cyberattack resulting in data breach or, corruption of data. 
5) Investment Risk. 
6) Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan 

 
1.4 Other risks assessed during the development stage were: 

1) Universal credit.  
2)   IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation. 

  
1.5 These two risks generated medium/low scores and for this reason they do not 

appear in the Corporate Risk Register, but instead, they are being managed at 
service level. 

1.6 The purpose of this report is to present Members with relevant information about 
the six strategic risks listed in paragraph 1.3 above at mid- year, so that they can 
monitor the actions that have been taken to manage them.   

2.   Monitoring of actions.  

 2.1     A number of actions have been agreed to effectively manage each of the five 
strategic risks recorded in the 2022-2023 register.  Appendix III of this report 
provides the following information:  

 
1) The number and title of each risk. 
2) Which Corporate Objective the risk links to. 
3) Review Date. 
4) Cabinet Portfolio and Risk Owner details 
5) The inherent, residual and target risk score 
6) Risk Trigger information. 
7) The consequences of the risk should it materialise 
8) The controls in place to eliminate, reduce or transfer each risk 
9) The lead officer responsible for overseeing the agreed actions 
10) Management action update as at Mid-Year Review.  
11) A colour coded quarterly risk assessment, to illustrate the 

effectiveness   of actions that have been carried out, where Red is 
inadequate; Amber is satisfactory and Green is good. 

 

Page 58



3 

2.2 Members of the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to review the 
information presented in Appendix III of this report and determine whether or not 
risk management actions are considered satisfactory.  Any additional actions that 
are appropriate to further mitigate each risk should be discussed, so that these 
can be referred to Cabinet for further consideration 

 
3.    Development of the 2023-2024 Corporate Risk Register 

       3.1 The development of the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2023-2024 will 
commence in December 2022.  Members are therefore requested initiate the 
process by putting forward suggestions for any new or emerging risks for 
consideration, as well as recommend which of the existing risks should be carried 
forward.   

 
 3.2 A new risk relating to the implementation of the Elections Act 2022, has already 

been put forward and its current evaluation suggests that it is likely to be included 
in the 2023-2024 Corporate Risk Register.  The initial evaluation of this risk can 
be found in Appendix IV. 

 
4.    Background Papers 

       4.1    There are no background papers pertaining to this report. 

Page 59



 

Secondary implications  

Risk Assessment  The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register. 

Digital and website 
implications 

N/A  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

N/A 

 

Page 60

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

 
GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER 

2022-2023 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

Page 61



 

2 | P a g e  

  
Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of a strategic risk 
management exercise conducted annually to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that 
may affect the ability of the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  Key risks facing the 
council are identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit 
Committee Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other 
senior managers 
 

The risk management exercise establishes the severity of risks through the utilisation of the 
risk matrix below. The risk matrix is used to establish the inherent risk score, the residual 
risk score and the target risk score. 

 

The Inherent Risk – The severity of the risk is determined before any controls have been 
introduced to reduce or mitigate the risk.  

 

The Residual Risk – The severity of the risk is determined after implementation of controls 
that reduce or mitigate the risk. The “residual” risk position is effectively the “tolerable” risk 
position which the Council is willing to operate given current constraints. It balances the 
funding position with objectives outlined in the councils Corporate Plan.  

 

The Target Risk – This is the “Optimal” risk position which the Council aims to reach 
through a combination of both improvements in existing controls and the introduction of new 
ones. This is informed by the Councils objectives detailed in the Corporate Plan. 
 

The Risk Matrix 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

Page 62



 

3 | P a g e  

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact    

 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years. 

 
 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The financial impact on the authority would threaten the council’s 
financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be 
affected either permanently or for a long duration and the council 
could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a seriously 
damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor media 
coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be significant although 
would not threaten the stability of the councils financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation, which would 
take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There may be financial impact on the authority and/or the cost of 
mitigating the risk could exceed the financial implications of the risk 
there may be disruption to services and possibly delays in 
achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage, which could affect the council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.   
There is no risk of this risk impacting on the councils reputation  

Page 63



 

4 | P a g e  

All risks identified for 2022-2023 and their assessments are summarised in the table below 
and plotted in the Heat Map:  

 

Risk Ref Risk Description
Inherent 

Risk

Residual 

Risk

Target 

Risk 

1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9

2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12

3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 12 9

4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 8

5 Investment risk 15 10 9

6 Adoption and deivery of sound Local Plan 16 12 9

7 Universal credit 15 6 9

8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 20 9 2  
 

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register. 

 

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk) 

1 2 3 4

IMPACT

High Risk

Medium Risk
Negligible Significant Serious Critical

Low Risk

Very Low 1

8 4

Low 2

High 4 1,3,6

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

Very High 5 5 2

Medium 3 7

 
 

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the 
Finance and Audit Committee.    

 
As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks. 
 
 

Page 64



 

 

  

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1 

Link to Corporate Objective  # Progress An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 
workforce and strong governance environment 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and 
posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, leading to increased financial 
pressure on the budget.  
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to 
how local government will be funded in future years. 
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair 
funding review, business rates retention and future of new homes 
bonus). 

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of 
services compromised 

 Inability to plan effectively for future years.  

 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car 
parking income and investment income) as a result of the 
COVID -19 Pandemic. 

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to 
lack of funding 

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects 

 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the 
Council. 

 Impact on minimum reserve limits. 

 Effective Budget Monitoring  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place 

 Ongoing monitoring of the Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Monitoring of changes in legislation by officers. 

 Model effects of any changes in legislation and application 
of these to the MTFP 

 Responding to Government Consultations 

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Budget monitoring process 

P
age 65



 

6 | P a g e  

 
 

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change  Risk No. 2 

Link to Corporate Objective  #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community. 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios 

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

 
Chief Executive/ Management Team/Wider Management Team 

 
March 2023 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Changes in national priorities including National Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP). 
Current proposals that affect the Borough are: 

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham) 

 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury) 

 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham) 
 
Local priority changes of partners 

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key 
projects. 
Projects may adversely affect local residents  
 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers 
Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations 
to keep informed of developments such as:- 
 
Local Government Association 
District Councils Network 
Kent Finance Officers Group 
Kent Resilience Forum 
 
Information sharing and gathering across all Council services 

Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central 
Government such as 
 

 Local Government Reform 

 Levelling Up Agenda 

Introduction of new statutory duties could 

 Change the strategic direction of the Council 

 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal 
challenge 

 Entail additional workloads for officers 

 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required 

 Increase scrutiny by members and the public 

 change the way existing services are delivered 

 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1) 
 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation 
Effective business continuity planning 
Regular updates to members on developments and potential 
changes in legislation 
Preparation of workforce strategy 
Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local 
authorities through various networks and forums. 
 
 

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial Plan 

P
age 66



 

7 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3 

Link to Corporate Objective  #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

Laura Lowrey June/July 2022 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID 
pandemic is making it difficult to recruit staff, especially those in 
specialist roles.   

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff, 
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing 
additional pressures on staff in service areas which may already 
have stretched resources. 
Increased agency costs  
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact 
 

A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 November 2021 
giving office based staff the opportunity to work from home, 
depending on the needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains competitive in order to 
retain existing staff and attract potential employees include: 

 Increased availability of training for (including qualification 
training). 

 Revisiting and improving advert templates and reviewing 
where vacancies are advertised.   

 HR and Managers working closely to ensure career 
progression is available within services.  

 The introduction of a Management Development Programme 

Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low 
morale and increased sickness and stress levels. 

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to 
overcome problems. 
 

HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and sickness absence 
within the Council and support line managers. When appropriate 
staff will be referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives  in order to support staff 
wellbeing that have been introduced and will continue, include: 

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys amongst the 
workforce.   

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum to ensure the 
whole workforce is represented at the meetings and includes 
a wellbeing item on the agenda. 

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run by the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme. 

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the Councils Mental 
Health Champions. 

 Continuing Investors in People reviews next one due in April 
2022. 

Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to 
remote working 
 

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity 
and mental health and wellbeing. 
 

All line managers undertook training in November 2021 on 
Leadership Behaviours for Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams. 

The Hybrid Working Policy provides office based staff the 
opportunity to adopt a better work life balance. 

P
age 67



 

8 | P a g e  

 

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place 

 Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023 

 Workforce Development Plan 

P
age 68



 

9 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4 

Link to Corporate Objective  #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment 

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council 

Digital innovation 

Successfully manage key business risks 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader  

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)  

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) November 2022 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an 
unauthorised user to access and modify data and systems used by that 
person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this may 
also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between 
systems. The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a 
loss of access to Council systems and data. 

 Cyber awareness training for staff 

 Use of strong passwords 

 Use of multifactor authentication 

 Separation of administrative accounts from general 
user accounts 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware 
which automatically runs when the web page is viewed. The malware is 
able to access resources on the computer with the same level of access 
as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with 
additional vulnerabilities (such as unpatched software),  The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data. 

 Use of web filtering software to control access to known 
high risk websites 

 Use of antivirus software 

 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing the 
web 

 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it 
allows exploitation by an external actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting 
in a loss of access to Council systems and data 

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration of 
IT infrastructure 

 Staff training 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via 
external infrastructure (web sites, email systems, vpn) in a systematic way 
with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to Council 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively 

P
age 69



 

10 | P a g e  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate 
consequence could be a cyberattack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data. 

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what an 
attacker is able to see 

 Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. 
Unpatched software means there are vulnerabilities in a program or code 
that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software can 
be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally 
designed to perform, such as carrying out a cyber-attack. 

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier 

 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 
notified by the supplier of a vulnerability 

 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 
explored for the automation of loading software patches 
to speed up the process and reduce the amount of time 
software is vulnerable 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of 
meaningless data which prevent legitimate data from getting through. 
Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down. 

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider) 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT 
infrastructure is able steal large volumes of data before destroying access 
to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services. 

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Business Continuity Plans 

 IT Security Policies 

P
age 70



 

11 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 5 

Link to Corporate Objective  #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader  

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the 
reputation of the Council which could impact on the delivery of services 
due to the loss of income. 

External professional advice is sought on new investment activity 
such as from the Councils treasury management advisors and 
subjected to due diligence checks 
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how 
investments are performing. 
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for 
investments 
Regular updates to members and management team on 
investment performance. 
Monitoring and review of treasury activity 

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the 
delivery of services due to lack of financial resources. 

Close working between finance and property services to enable 
early identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s 
investment portfolio. 
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently 
this reserve is set at 25% of annual commercial income. 
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and 
ensuring all commercial investments align with this strategy. 
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard. 

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential 
changes to the Prudential Code and access to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) 

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward 
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to 
ensure compliance with the relevant codes and legislation. 
 

Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant 
with the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria. 
Research other investment opportunities / income streams. 

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Treasury Management Strategy 

 Capital Strategy 

 Property Acquisition Strategy 

P
age 71



 

12 | P a g e  

The Risk Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan Risk No. 6 

Link to Corporate Objective  #Place 

Assessment Date January 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Strategic Environment 

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score  16 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9 

 
 
 
 

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

 
Service Manager (Planning) 
Assistant Director (Planning) 

 
December 2023 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence 
base 

 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to 
date local plan in place by the end of 2023 or face government 
sanction / intervention 

 If Government intervention: 
o Reputational damage to the Council  
o The potential imposition of unwanted planning policies, 

causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are 
dependent on the Local Plan 

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor 
quality development 

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan Gateway 
Review which is an independent assessment of the risks and 
opportunities faced. 

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project timetable / 
project plan that is used to control and manage the process, 
so far as that is possible and that this is periodically presented 
to Management Team for management update/monitoring 
purposes. 

 There are risks which cannot be adequately mitigated 
because they are under the control of external organisations 
and the Council is reliant on those external parties for 
elements of the Local Plan. For example, updated transport 
modelling is required from Kent County Council in agreement 
with National Highways. This is outside of our direct control 
but essential for the plan. 

 

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test 

 Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national 
planning policy, rather than policies in a Local Plan have greater 
influence in decision making  

 National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” for housing. This means that if a site can 
be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then planning 
permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the 
council for housing in that location or the site sits outside the Local 
Plan.  

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built:  
o May have to recommend approval of applications for sites 

they have not allocated  
o Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal. 

 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and 
implementation of the interventions identified within it 

Key corporate documents and processes in place Housing Delivery Action Plan 

Local Development Scheme 

P
age 72



 

 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 
Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Risk Register Outlines the key strategic Risks facing the council and controls that are implemented to manage these risks.  
It also details any further action required by the council to ensure risks are being sufficiently controlled. 
 
The Risks that were identified and formally approved by Full Council on the 13th April 2021, are listed below. These risks have been documented in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register: 
 
 

Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council  
 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change   
 
Risk 3: Organisational capacity/ resilience 
  
Risk 4: Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 
 
Risk 5: Investment Risk 
 

 
 

This document provides mid-year progress information in respect of the management of each of the above risks.  The effectiveness of risk management actions that have been carried out as at mid-year, are 
assessed as being one of the following: 

 

     Actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 

Whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.  

 

 

The action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and therefore further work is required. 

 

Good 
 

Satisfactory 

Inadequate 

P
age 75



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

P
age 76



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
  

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1 

Link to Corporate Objective  # Progress An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 
workforce and strong governance environment 

Review Date October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9 

 
 

 

Trigger Consequences 

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
leading to increased financial pressure on the budget.  
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to how local government will be 
funded in future years. 
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair funding review, business rates 
retention and future of new homes bonus). 

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of services compromised 

 Inability to plan effectively for future years.  

 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car parking income and investment 
income) as a result of the COVID -19 Pandemic. 

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to lack of funding 

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects 

 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the Council. 

 Impact on minimum reserve limits. 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.1 Effective Budget Monitoring  Director  

( Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 Quarterly budget monitoring is established in the committee cycle for 
presentation to the Finance and Audit Committee and The Cabinet. 

 Monthly budget monitoring reports are sent to budget holders 

    

1.2 Medium Term Financial Plan in 
place. 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 The Medium-Term Financial Plan remains in place and is updated and 
monitored on a regular basis 

    

1.3 Ongoing monitoring of Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 The Medium-Term Financial Plan is continually monitored to ensure it is 
current and that the authority is aware of its financial position. In 
addition to the quarterly budget reporting further MTFP’s were 
presented at Cabinet and May and October to show the impact of 
increasing financial pressures. 

 In response to the emerging budget gap officers have been proactive 
and have put together a medium term financial strategy and 

    

P
age 77



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

workstreams to help counter the financial pressures / challenges now 
faced by the council 

P
age 78



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.4 Monitoring of changes in legislation 
by Officers. 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 The finance team are kept up to date in changes in legislation by 
press release and via local government networks and CIPFA 

    

1.5 Model effects of any changes in 
legislation and application of these to 
the MTFP. 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 Changes are routinely modelled into the MTFP so that potential 
impacts is known. A recent example of this is the potential salary 
increases proposed by unions and the impact of energy cost rises. 

    

1.6 Responding to Government 
Consultations 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

 Consultations are responded to if relevant to the financial impact on 
this authority. 

    

P
age 79



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change  Risk No. 2 

Link to Corporate Objective  #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community. 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

Review Date October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios 

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 

 
 

 
 

Trigger Consequences 

Changes in national priorities including National Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP). 
Current proposals that affect the Borough are: 

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham) 

 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury) 

 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham) 
 

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key projects. 
Projects may adversely affect local residents  
 

Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central Government such as 
 

 Local Government Reform 

 Levelling Up Agenda 

Introduction of new statutory duties could 

 Change the strategic direction of the Council 

 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal challenge 

 Entail additional workloads for officers 

 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required 

 Increase scrutiny by members and the public 

 change the way existing services are delivered 

 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1) 
 

P
age 80



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.1 Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers  
 

Wider Management Team 

 Monthly policy bulletins are circulated to WMT 
and key officers by the Strategic Policy Manager 

    

2.2 Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations to 
keep informed of developments such as:- 

 Local Government Association 

 District Councils Network 

 Kent Finance Officers Group 

 Kent Resilience Forum 
 

 

 
 

Wider Management Team 

 This is being done and aligns with 2.8 below     

2.3 Information sharing and gathering across all Council services Wider Management Team  Wider management team meetings are held 
every 2 months where updates are given by 
various services. 

 Corporate Improvement Team in place reviewing 
services and gathering intelligence in how they 
operate 

    

2.4 Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation 
 

  

 Wider Management Team 

 As in 2.4 above     

2.5 Effective business continuity planning   

 Wider Management Team 

 Internal Audit recently carried out in this area 

 Business continuity framework recently reviewed 
by Management Team. Updated Business 
Continuity Plans / Templates and action cards to 
be circulated to directorates. 

    

2.6 Regular updates to members on development and potential changes in 
legislation 

 

Committee Services/ Wider Management 
Team 

 This can happen via all member emails, member 
bulletins, member briefings with senior officers or 
through presentations at the relevant committees 

    

2.7 Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local authorities 
through various networks and forums 

 

Wider Management 

 See section 2.2 above 

 Senior officers involvement in officer groups 
within Kent such as the Chief Accountants Group, 
Kent Finance Officers Group, Risk Management 
Group 

    

P
age 81



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3 

Link to Corporate Objective  #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

Review Date  October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9 

 

 

Trigger Consequences 

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID pandemic is making it difficult to 
recruit staff, especially those in specialist roles.   

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff, 
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing additional pressures on staff in 
service areas which may already have stretched resources. 
Increased agency costs  
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact 
 

Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low morale and increased sickness and 
stress levels. 

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome problems. 
 

Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to remote working 
 

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity and mental health and wellbeing. 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.1 A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 
November 2021 giving office-based staff the 
opportunity to work from home, depending on the 
needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains 
competitive in order to retain existing staff and 
attract potential employees include: 

 Increased availability of training for 
(including qualification training). 

 Revisiting and improving advert templates 
and reviewing where vacancies are 
advertised.   

 HR and Managers working closely to 
ensure career progression is available 
within services.  

 The introduction of a Management 
Development Programme 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 HR Business Partner  

The Hybrid Working Policy and arrangements became permanent on 1 April 
2022 following a successful trial period. 

 

There has been an increase in demand and take up for qualification training 
but due to this it has put a strain of the current qualification budget which is 
being addressed with Finance.  The apprenticeship levy is being explored 
further and we currently have nine permanent employees undertaking 
qualification training via this route (including two Planning Degrees). 

 

The advert templates are in the process of being amended and personalised to 
attract more candidates.  Alternative methods of advertising have also been 
used including Indeed and direct campaigns via Linked In, which have proved 
successful in some roles.  The Council’s social media channels are also being 
explored further to promote all vacancies moving forwards. 

 

A number of new career progression roles have been introduced within the 
Council (Committee Services, Planning, Surveyors) and this is also factored 
into any restructures as and when the need arises. 

    

P
age 82



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  

 

 

 

 

   

We are currently in the process of sourcing external training providers in order 
to offer a formal management development programme in house. 

 

Following the cost-of-living crisis and competitive employment market the 
Council is having to explore further ways to attract and retain staff and we are 
currently looking at reviewing the benefits package within the Council. 

    

3.2 HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and 
sickness absence within the Council and support 
line managers. When appropriate staff will be 
referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives in order to 
support staff wellbeing that have been introduced 
and will continue, include: 

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys 
amongst the workforce.   

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum 
to ensure the whole workforce is 
represented at the meetings and includes a 
wellbeing item on the agenda. 

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run 
by the Council’s Employee Assistance 
Programme. 

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the 
Councils Mental Health Champions. 

Continuing Investors in People reviews next one 
due in April 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HR Business Partner 

Stress and sickness is monitored monthly within the Council with head of 
service receiving monthly reports for their teams to filter down.  In those areas 
with high levels of sickness monthly face to face meeting are being held with 
HR to tackle this. 

 

A wellbeing survey is due to be circulated in Q3. 

 

The joint staff forum has been reviewed despite an initial lack of interest which 
has resulted in the last few forums being cancelled a number of employees 
have now expressed an interest in becoming representatives.  The new format 
will be in place for the next meeting. 

 

Weekly webinars still continue to be provided to all employees. 

 

HR are working with Health & Safety with a view to retraining a number of 
Mental Health first aiders in the workplace.  Once this is undertaken, they will 
meet on a regular basis and promote this additional support to employees and 
what the Council can do to further promote positive mental health and 
wellbeing in the workplace. 

 

The Council achieved gold standard when reviewed by Investors in People in 
April 2022, previous award was silver, so this was a fantastic achievement. 

    

3.3 All line managers undertook training in 
November 2021 on Leadership Behaviours for 
Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams. 

The Hybrid Working Policy provides office-based 
staff the opportunity to adopt a better work life 
balance. 

 

 

HR Business Partner 

HR continue to support Managers and employees with any issues as a result of 
the new Hybrid working arrangements as and when they arise. 

 

The management development programme will also reinforce this aspect once 
implemented. 

    

P
age 83



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4 

Link to Corporate Objective  #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment 

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council 

Digital innovation 

Successfully manage key business risks 

Review Date October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader  

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)  

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8 

 

 
  

Trigger Consequences 

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an unauthorised user to access and 
modify data and systems used by that person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this 
may also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between systems. The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to Council systems and data. 

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware which automatically runs when 
the web page is viewed. The malware is able to access resources on the computer with the same level of 
access as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with additional vulnerabilities (such as 
unpatched software),  The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data. 

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it allows exploitation by an external 
actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to Council systems and data 

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via external infrastructure (web sites, 
email systems, VPN) in a systematic way with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to 
Council systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate consequence could be a cyberattack 
resulting in a loss of access to Council systems and data. 

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. Unpatched software means there are 
vulnerabilities in a program or code that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software 
can be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally designed to perform, such as 
carrying out a cyber-attack. 

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of meaningless data which prevent 
legitimate data from getting through. Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down. 

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT infrastructure is able steal large volumes 
of data before destroying access to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services. 

P
age 84



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.1  Cyber awareness training for staff 
 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) An exercise has been undertaken with all staff, with refresher 
training provided to those who failed the test. 

    

4.2    

 Use of strong passwords 

 Use of multifactor authentication 

 Separation of administrative accounts from general 
user accounts 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place.     

4.3 

 Use of web filtering software to control access to 
known high risk websites 

 Use of antivirus software 

 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing 
the web 

 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. Web filtering will soon be 
undertaken by a new firewall. 

    

4.4 

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration 
of IT infrastructure 

 Staff training 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. The dedicated IT 
Security Officer post is part of the Corporate Improvement Team 
work in IT which incorporates the wider team roles and structure. 
Once funding has been identified a report on the new structure 
will be presented to Management Team. 

    

4.5 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively 

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what 
an attacker is able to see 

 Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed 
service will be explored in order to provide 24/7 
proactive monitoring of our IT environment and 
highlighting any risks for further action on immediate 
identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. The managed Security 
Operations Service is part of the Corporate Improvement Team 
work in IT which incorporates the wider team roles and structure. 
Once funding has been identified a report on the new structure 
will be presented to Management Team. 

    

P
age 85



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.6 

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier 

 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 
notified by the supplier of a vulnerability 

 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 
explored for the automation of loading software 
patches to speed up the process and reduce the 
amount of time software is vulnerable 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. Please see above 
regarding Security Officer role and managed Security 
Operations Centre. 

    

4.7 

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider) 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed 
service will be explored in order to provide 24/7 
proactive monitoring of our IT environment and 
highlighting any risks for further action on immediate 
identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. Please see above 
regarding Security Officer role and managed Security 
Operations Centre. 

    

4.8 

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage 

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed 
service will be explored in order to provide 24/7 
proactive monitoring of our IT environment and 
highlighting any risks for further action on immediate 
identification 

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture 
 

 

 

 

 

Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) 

These controls continue to be in place. Please see above 
regarding Security Officer role and managed Security 
Operations Centre. 

    

P
age 86



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 
 

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No.     5 

Link to Corporate Objective  #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 
workforce and strong governance environment 

Review Date October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Leader  

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9 

 

 

 

Trigger Consequences 

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the reputation of the Council which 
could impact on the delivery of services due to the loss of income. 

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the delivery of services due to lack of 
financial resources. 

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential changes to the Prudential Code 
and access to Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward 
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to ensure compliance with the relevant 
codes and legislation. 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.1 External professional advice is sought on new investment activity such 
as from the Councils treasury management advisors and subjected to due 
diligence checks 
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how investments are 
performing. 
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for investments 
Regular updates to members and management team on investment 
performance. 
Monitoring and review of treasury activity 

 
 
 
 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 Regular meetings have been held throughout the 
year with LINK the council’s treasury 
management advisors. 

 Internal treasury meetings are held quarterly 
within the finance team. 

 A weekly newsletter is produced by LINK detailing 
the state of the money markets and the economy 
in general 

 Regular meetings with our fund managers have 
taken place throughout the year so that the 
finance team are aware of any potential financial 
implications. 

 Twice a year the TMSS is reviewed and 
presented at the Finance and Audit Committee for 
review and comment 

 Investment performance is reported quarterly 
alongside the budget monitoring reporting 

    

P
age 87



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.2 Close working between finance and property services to enable early 
identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s investment portfolio. 
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently this 
reserve is set at 15% of annual commercial income. 
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and ensuring 
all commercial investments align with this strategy. 
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard. 

 
 
 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 Property dashboard which includes investment 
yield is presented 5 times a year at the 
commercial services cabinet committee together 
with updates on the property investment portfolio. 

    

5.3 Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant with 
the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria. 
Research other investment opportunities / income streams. 

 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 This is completed at the time of investment and 
during the annual and in year reviews of the 
TMSS 

    

P
age 88



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 
 
 

The Risk Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan Risk No.   6 

Link to Corporate Objective  #3 Place 

Review Date October 2020 

Cabinet Portfolio Strategic Environment 

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9 

 

    

  

Trigger Consequences 

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence base  Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to date local plan in place by the end 
of 2023 or face government sanction / intervention  

 If Government intervention: o Reputational damage to the Council o The potential imposition of 
unwanted planning policies, causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are dependent 
on the Local Plan  

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor quality development 

  

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the Government’s Housing Delivery Test  Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national planning policy, rather than 
policies in a Local Plan have greater influence in decision making  

  National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of sustainable development” for 
housing. This means that if a site can be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then 
planning permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the council for housing in 
that location or the site sits outside the Local Plan.  

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built:  
 May have to recommend approval of applications for sites they have not allocated  
 Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal. 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

6.1 

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan Gateway Review which is an 
independent assessment of the risks and opportunities faced.  

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project timetable / project plan that is used to 
control and manage the process, so far as that is possible and that this is periodically 
presented to Management Team for management update/monitoring purposes.  

 
 

Assistant Director (Planning) 

 

The management of this risk is considered 
adequate rather than good as Management Team 
have not been provided with an up to date 
detailed project timetable/project plan. 

    

P
age 89



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

 There are risks which cannot be adequately mitigated because they are under the 
control of external organisations and the Council is reliant on those external parties for 
elements of the Local Plan. For example, updated transport modelling is required from 
Kent County Council in agreement with National Highways. This is outside of our direct 
control but essential for the plan. 
 

  

 

    

6.2 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and implementation of the interventions 
identified within it 
 

 
Assistant Director (Planning) 

The management of this risk is considered 
inadequate because a revised Housing Delivery 
Action Plan has not been provided to 
Management Team. 

 

    

P
age 90



 
Gravesham Borough Council 

Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 
 

 
 

The Risk Implementation of the Elections Act 2022 Risk No.  

Link to Corporate Objective  #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home. 

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community. 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 

skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

Assessment Date October 2022 

Cabinet Portfolio Full Council 

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Returning Officer 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE 

Likelihood  5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10 Likelihood  5 Impact 1 Score 5 

 

 
 

  

Lead Officer (s) Target Date 

 
Simon Walsh, Service Manager (Communities) 

 
5 May 2023 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Secondary legislation not in place to inform planning for May 2023 Risk mitigations and choices being made uninformed (see also comms 
risk)  
 
The Returning Officer may struggle to deliver the elections they have 
personal responsibility for e.g., electors prevented from voting leading 
to a challenge to the way the poll was conducted. Potential errors 
leading to lack of confidence in the administration of the poll and the 
result. 
 
The risk of challenge by petition after the election will be higher 
 
Election outcome is open to challenge e.g., electors not 
being issued with electoral identity documents and being 
unable to vote 
 
The democratic legitimacy of the Council might be undermined 
hindering its ability to fulfil its role. 
 
Reputational damage for the local authority 
 
If election results are challenged via electoral petition, council decision 
making maybe affected. 
 
 
 

External dependency on Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) delivery 
 

P
age 91



 
Gravesham Borough Council 

Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 
 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Electoral Commission Guidance not in place to inform planning for 
May 2023 

Election outcome is open to challenge e.g., electors not being issued 
with electoral identity documents and being unable to vote 
 
Failure to deliver polling e.g., electors prevented from voting leading to 
a challenge to the way the poll was conducted. Potential errors leading 
to lack of confidence in the administration of the poll and the result. 
Reputational damage for the local authority 

External dependency on DLUHC delivery 
 

Too much workload on Electoral Services Officers  Stress/ sickness absence 
 
Unable to process applications in a timely manner. 
 
Disenfranchised electors (with disproportionate impact 
on certain demographics and deprived areas) 
 
Reputational damage, increased costs, Impact on election capacity, 
Impact on other activities 
 

Additional officer support to be allocated to the elections team to 
increase capacity 
 
Inbuilt resilience in sharing workload across the electoral service. 

ICT System failure (Government Portal for Voter ID) Unable to process applications and/or authorised IDs incorrectly 
 
Centralised printing of Voter ID document is disrupted and therefore not 
despatched in timely fashion to electors 
 
Disenfranchised electors (with disproportionate impact on certain 
demographics and deprived areas) 
 
Reputational damage 
 
Increased workloads and costs 
 
Impact on election capacity 
 
Electoral Fraud 
 

External dependency on DLUHC delivery 
 
Training of staff will be conducted once the system 
information is available. 
 
Additional officer support to be allocated to the elections team to 
increase capacity 
 
Ability to issue temporary electoral identity documents in 
contingency situations where the usual determination, printing 
and distribution process is disrupted. 

Quality of product (Voter ID document) is not fit for purpose Voter ID document becomes damaged or unusable prior to election 
 
Voter ID document is forgeable for use in a polling station 
 
Increased workload/failure demand 
 
Disenfranchised electors 
 
Impact on Local Election results and election integrity 
 

Extensive training package to be put in place (reliant on 
secondary legislation, guidance and training packages being 
available) 
 
The ERO will have the ability to allow the appointment of an 
emergency proxy for that polling day. 
 
Electoral identity document expected to be an A4 paper-based 
document with inherent security features 
 
Ability to issue temporary electoral identity documents in 
contingency situations where the usual determination, printing 
and distribution process is disrupted. 
 
Increased polling staffing levels for May 2023 elections 
 
 

P
age 92



 
Gravesham Borough Council 

Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 
 

 

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control 

Communications are not effective (Comms Risk) Increase in voter ID requests leading to being unable to process 
applications in a timely manner (see above) 
 
Electors do not need to apply for Voter ID (as they already have 
suitable photographic ID)  
 
Elector assumes Poll Card Letter is ID 
 
Electors do not realise they need ID and do not like being challenged in 
the station 
 
Electors being potentially disenfranchised 

External dependency on Electoral Commission on delivery of 
comms (who are in turn dependent on DLUHC delivering) 
 
Utilise internal comms team as far as able to - but reliant on 
secondary legislation and guidance being in place. 
 
Ahead of the introduction of the voter identification requirement, 
the Electoral Commission will carry out a wide-reaching public 
awareness campaign (from early 2023) to ensure voters 
understand the change and to support continued participation in 
the electoral process. 
 
The EC’s advertising campaign will be designed to reach the 
public and, as the majority already have an eligible form of 
photographic identification, it will focus on raising awareness of 
the change and serve as a reminder to those in election areas 

Additional Responsibilities for polling staff Increased difficulty in recruiting (particularly presiding officers) and 
increased training requirements (including for experienced staff) 
 
Risk to election delivery 
 
Increased issues in polling stations etc. 
 
Unable to deliver polls 
 

Increase polling staffing levels for May 2023 elections 
 
DLUHC funding provision 
 
Extensive training package to be put in place (reliant on 
secondary legislation, guidance and training packages being 
available) 
 
Contact staff early for May 2023 (underway), to inform planning 
 
Put all council teams and staffing on standby to assist if required 

Increased serious polling station incidents due to additional ‘challenge 
point’ of ID 

Increased resourcing requirement on police.  Police unable to respond 
to serious incidents as occupied elsewhere 
 
Risks to staff safety - Difficulty recruiting new staff or retaining 
experienced staf 
 
Staff are put in dangerous situations 
 

Increase polling staffing levels for May 2023 elections 
 
DLUHC funding provision 
 
Extensive training package to be put in place (reliant on 
secondary legislation, guidance and training packages being 
available) 
 
Make early contact with police to discuss resourcing and cover 
 

Poll card changes (to an A4 letter) lead to increased costs and 
confusion 

Electors are confused, voter ID vs Poll 'card', do not recognise poll card 
as its changing form (so it is not opened or disposed of) 
 
Turnout is impacted, including postal votes 
 
Costs of elections increase due to postage costs changing 
 
Election integrity questioned and risks of challenge increase 
 
Political fallout and reputational damage 
 
Impact on council's finances if not covered by a DLUHC indemnity 

Communications required (see Comms Risk) 
 
DLUHC dependency 
 
Additional officer support to be allocated to the elections team to 
increase capacity 
 
 

P
age 93



 
Gravesham Borough Council 

Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 
 

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023 

 Elections Project Plan and Risk Register 

 

P
age 94



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 9 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2022/23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide a mid-year review update report to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee 
on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to September 2022. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report and  
2. The Finance and Audit Committee recommend to Full Council that the amendment to 

the UK sovereignty rates, as set out in Para 5.4 and the amendments to the 
Operational Boundary and Authorised Limits as set out in Para’s 6.8 and 6.12 
respectively are agreed. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal As per section 1.13B.67 of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief 
Finance officer has delegated responsibility from Cabinet.  

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans 
as are legally permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing 
requirements” 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury 
Management were identified in the Treasury Management 
Strategy approved by Council on 22 February 2022.  Officers 
continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and identify 
mitigating actions to minimise risks. 

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon 
generating maximum interest from its investments whilst 
minimising the exposure to risk.  In order to achieve this, 
investments are only placed with institutions which meet the 
criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do not 
exceed those as advised by Capita Asset Services credit ratings 
which are associated with the specific institutions. 

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the 
authority, officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on 
timings and options in order to ensure the best deal for the 
authority. 

Page 95 Agenda Item 9



2 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks. 

Climate Change  Climate Change implications are one consideration of ESG 
investments which are covered in Section 11 of this report. 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Capital Strategy In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy, (CIPFA) issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes. From 2020/21, all local authorities have been required to prepare a 
Capital Strategy which is to provide the following: -  

 a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;  

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed;  

 the implications for future financial sustainability.  
 

1.2 Treasury management The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly 
means cash raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the 
treasury management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return. 

 
1.3 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 

the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the 
Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer 
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

 
1.4 Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 

2. INTRODUCTION 

2.1 This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management (revised 2017).  The primary requirements of the Code 
are as follows: 

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities. 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives. 

 Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 

Page 96



3 

Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year. 

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions. 

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is the Finance and Audit Committee. 

2.2 This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following: 

 An economic update for the first half of the 2022/23 financial year; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 
prudential indicators; 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23; 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2022/23; 

 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2022/23; 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2022/23. 

 

3. ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

3.1 The following economic performance update has been provided by Link Asset 
Services – Treasury Solutions as at 7 October 2022. 

3.2 Following the change of both the Prime Minister and Chancellor in September, a 
significant change in government policy was announced on 23 September.  The 
government’s huge fiscal loosening from its proposed significant tax cuts will add 
to existing domestic inflationary pressures and will potentially leave a legacy of 
higher interest rates and public debt.  Whilst the government’s utility price freeze, 
which could cost up to £150bn over 2 years, will reduce peak inflation from 14.5% 
in January next year to 10.4% in November this year, the list of tax measures 
announced at the mini budget adds up to loosening in fiscal policy relative to the 
previous government’s plans of £44.8bn by 2026/27. 

3.3 Fears the government has no fiscal anchor on the back of these announcements 
has meant that the pound has weakened, adding further pressure to interest rates.  
Whilst the pound fell to a record low of $1.035, it has since recovered off the back 
of an expectation the Bank of England will raise interest rates considerably at the 
next meeting of the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) on 3 November and the 
government will lay out a credible medium-term plan in the near term. 

3.4 The MPC has increased interest rates seven times in as many meetings in 2022 
and has raised rates to their highest level since the Global Financial Crisis.  Since 
the mini budget, the MPC is expected to increase rates further and faster from 
2.25% to a peak of 5.00% in February 2023.  The combination of the government’s 
fiscal loosening, the tight labour market and inflation expectations means that the 
MPC is expected to raise interest rates by 1% at the policy meetings in November 
and by 0.75% in December followed by a further 0.50% in February and March.  If 
Bank of England Base Rate does climb by these amounts, the housing market 
looks very vulnerable. 

Page 97



4 

3.5 In response to the Government's mini budget, the Bank of England announced that 
it would postpone plans to start selling some of its quantitative easing until 31 
October and committed to buying up to £65bn of long-term gilts in an attempt to 
restore market conditions until 14 October. 

3.6 Throughout 2022/23, gilt yields have been on an upward trend.  However, the rate 
of the rise increased significantly at the end of September as investors expected 
higher interest rates to offset the government's fiscal stimulus plan.  The 30-year 
gilt rose from 3.60% to 5.10% following the fiscal event but has since fallen back to 
around 3.83%. 

3.7 Equity markets have fallen to their lowest levels since November 2020 and July 
2021, with the FTSE down 5.2% as the fall in the pound has boosted the value of 
oversea earnings.  The decline has in part been driven by as concerns over 
economic growth leading to a deterioration in investor risk appetite. 

4. INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 

4.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast.  The PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty 
Rate (standard rate minus 20 bps) which the Council can access. 

 

 

4.2 The latest forecast on 27 September sets out a view that both short and long-
dated interest rates will be elevated for some little while, as the Bank of England 
seeks to squeeze inflation out of the economy, whilst the government is providing 
a package of fiscal loosening to try and protect households and businesses from 
the ravages of ultra-high wholesale gas and electricity prices. 

4.3 The increase in PWLB rates reflects a broad sell-off in sovereign bonds 
internationally but more so the disaffection investors have with the position of the 
UK public finances after September’s “fiscal event”.  To that end, the MPC has 
tightened short-term interest rates with a view to trying to slow the economy 
sufficiently to keep the secondary effects of inflation – as measured by wage rises 
– under control, but its job is that much harder now. 

5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY UPDATE 

5.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23 was 
approved by Full Council on 22 February 2022. 

5.2 The underlying TMSS approved previously requires revision in the light of 
economic and operational movements during the year.  The proposed changes 
and supporting detail for the charges are set out below: 

5.3 Within the TMSS the Council has included a limit on non-UK countries, that 
means it will only place investments with counterparties from countries with a 

Page 98



5 

minimum sovereign rating of AAA, as determined by at least two of the three 
main ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s).  The UK was 
excluded from this requirement provided that the UK sovereign rating remained 
above A+. 

5.4 Whilst the UK’s rating remains above this rate, two agencies have put the UK on 
a negative rating in response to the current economic situation.  Although this 
does not indicate the rating will be lowered imminently, it opens the possibility.  If 
the UK sovereign rating were to be downgraded and the TMSS were not to be 
amended accordingly, then placing investments within the UK would no longer be 
an option.  However, due to the current due diligence process undertaken by 
institutions prior to accepting investments, opportunities to place monies outside 
of the UK are limited.  In consultation with the Council’s Treasury Management 
consultants, Link, it is recommended to remove the sovereign rating for the UK, 
altogether rather than reduce it further and rely solely on the credit rating and 
CDS rating of UK institutions.  The minimum sovereign rating for non-UK 
countries will remain unchanged at AAA, as determined by at least two of the 
three main ratings agencies. 

5.5 This report is also recommending a revision to both the Operational Boundary 
and the Authorised Limit, in light of the alternative accounting treatment for the St 
George’s transaction.  The recommended revised levels can be found in para 6.6 
and 6.12. 

6. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS) 

6.1 This part of the report is structured to update: 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans 

 How these plans are being financed 

 The impact of changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and 

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

6.2 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure - The table below shows the revised 
estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the capital programme was 
agreed by Council as part of the budget. 

Capital Expenditure 2022/23 

Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2022/23 

Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Non HRA 72.479 10.138 51.414 

HRA 24.059 12.126 19.150 

Total 96.538 22.264 70.564 

 

6.3 The revised estimate for Non HRA and HRA capital schemes reflects both the 
carried forward items from 2021/22 along with the forecast spend reported within 
the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring reports. 

Page 99



6 

6.4 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme - The following table 
draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the 
capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital 
expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increased the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of 
debt (Minimum Revenue Provision).  This direct borrowing need may also be 
supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury requirements. 

Capital Expenditure 2022/23 

Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2022/23 

Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Total 96.538 22.264 70.564 

Financed by:    

Capital Receipts 5.756 3.737 3.868 

Grants/Contributions 10.237 0.521 3.165 

Revenue Grants not 
yet applied 

0.215 0.040 0.351 

Reserves 1.193 0.585 1.814 

Revenue 0.547 1.235 2.310 

Major Repairs Reserve 7.061 4.263 5.481 

Total Financing 25.036 10.381 16.989 

Borrowing Need 71.502 11.883 53.575 
 

6.5 The borrowing need for 2022/23 currently stands at £53.575m, which is based on 
the forecast capital programme spend for the current year.  Of the total borrowing 
need, £5.881m internal borrowing will be utilised and £47.694m external 
borrowing will be sought. 

6.6 Changes to the Prudential Indicator for the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary - The table below shows the 
CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for a capital 
purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position, which is termed the 
Operational Boundary.   

 2022/23 

Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2022/23 

Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

CFR – Non HRA 206.013 57.463 95.221 

CFR – HRA 84.662 88.519 77.940 

Total CFR 290.675 145.982 173.161 

Page 100



7 

Net Movement in CFR 
(between years) 64.814 20.111 47.290 

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

Borrowing 246.080 221.160 221.160 

Other Long Term Liabilities 97.590 5.000 5.000 

Total Debt (year end position) 343.670 226.160 226.160 

 

6.7 The operational boundary is the maximum amount of borrowing which the council 
is permitted to undertake on a day-to-day basis and must not be breached other 
than for temporary cash flow demand purposes. This level has not been 
breached during the first six months of 2022/23. 

6.8 As reported within the TMSS Annual Report, presented to the Finance and Audit 
Committee on 19 July, the external audit process of reviewing and certifying the 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts has yet to be concluded.  The final accounts 
process has identified alternative treatment for the St George’s transaction.  
Therefore, the figures included in this report now reflect the treatment of this 
transaction as a loan instead of a finance lease.  The CFR forecast in the table 
above has therefore reduced significantly, however, the level of debt held by the 
Council has increased.  The operational boundary forecast has also been 
amended as a result. 

6.9 Limits to Borrowing Activity - The first key control over the treasury activity is a 
prudential indicator to ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing 
(borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external 
borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022/23 and next two 
financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need 
which will be adhered to if this proves prudent. 

Borrowing Activity 2022/23 

Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2022/23 

Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Debt as at 1 April 98.767 122.073 122.073 

Expected change in debt 63.102 15.000 39.957 

Other long term liabilities (OLTL)  92.916 0.000 0.000 

Expected change in OLTL (0.322) 0.000 0.000 

Total Gross Debt 254.563 137.073 162.030 

CFR (year-end position) 290.675 145.982 173.161 

 

6.10 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator. 

6.11 Prudential Indicator for the Authorised Limit - A further prudential indicator 
controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit which 
represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set 
and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not 

Page 101



8 

desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer 
term. It is the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for 
unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) 
of the Local Government Act 2003. 

6.12 As per Para 6.8, the authorised limit reported below has also been amended to 
reflect the alternative treatment for the St George’s transaction.  

Authorised limit for 
External Debt 

2022/23 

Original 
Estimate* 

£m 

2022/23 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2022/23 

Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Borrowing 256.080 231.160 231.160 

Other long-term liabilities 102.590 10.000 10.000 

Total 358.670 241.160 241.160 

 

7. BORROWING 

7.1 The Council’s forecast Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for 2022/23 is 
£173.161m.  The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes. If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or 
the market (external borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis 
(internal borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally 
driven by market conditions.  The Council has borrowings of £137m and has 
utilised £22.1m of cashflow funds in lieu of borrowing.  This is a prudent and cost-
effective approach in the current economic climate but will require ongoing 
monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails. 

7.2 Due to the overall financial position and the underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes (the CFR), new external borrowing of £15m was undertaken, with a 
further £14m arranged but not yet drawn.  The capital programme is being kept 
under regular review due to the effects of inflationary pressures, shortages of 
materials and labour.  Our borrowing strategy will, therefore, also be regularly 
reviewed and then revised, if necessary, to achieve optimum value and risk 
exposure in the long-term. 
 

New Loans Principal Start Date Maturity Date 

Guilford Borough Council £5m 29/04/22 28/04/23 

Vale of White Horse DC £3m 16/05/22 16/05/23 

Caerphilly County BC £3m 01/08/22 26/04/24 

West of England 
Combined Authority 

£4m 12/09/22 28/04/23 

The following loans have been pre-arranged but not yet 
received 

West Midlands Combined 
Authority 

£5m 24/10/22 24/04/24 

West Midlands Combined 
Authority 

£5m 30/11/22 26/04/24 

West of England 
Combined Authority 

£4m 28/04/23 26/04/24 

 
7.3 It is anticipated that further borrowing will be undertaken during this financial year. 

 

Page 102



9 

7.4 PWLB rates were on a rising trend between 1 April and 30 September.  The 50-
year PWLB target certainty rate for new long- term borrowing started 2022/23 at 
2.0% before increasing to 4.80% in September. 

 
8. DEBT RESCHEDULING 

8.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields 
which have impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt 
rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year. 
However, now that the whole of the yield curve has shifted higher there may be 
better opportunities in the future, although only prudent and affordable debt 
rescheduling will be considered. 

 
9. COMPLIANCE WITH TREASURY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS 

9.1 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 
affordable borrowing limits.  During the half year ended 30 September 2022, the 
Council has operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2022/23.  The Director 
Corporate Services reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or 
future years in complying with these indicators. 

9.2 All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance 
with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices. 

10. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

10.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23, which 
includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 
22 February 2022.  In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code, it 
is the Council’s priority to ensure 

  security of capital 

 liquidity, and  

 yield  

10.2 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with Council’s risk 
appetite.  In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to see out value 
available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, 
using the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, including a minimum 
sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay information. 

10.3 Creditworthiness – Following the Government's fiscal event on 23 September, 
both S&P and Fitch have placed the UK sovereign debt rating on Negative 
Outlook reflecting a downside bias to the current ratings in light of expectations of 
weaker finances and the economic outlook.  See Para 5.4 for recommended 
change to the UK sovereign rating requirement within the TMSS, in light of this. 

10.4 Investment Counterparty Criteria – The current investment counterparty criteria 
selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the requirement of the treasury 
management function. 

Page 103



10 

10.5 CDS Prices – It is noted that sentiment in the current economic climate can 
easily shift, so it remains important to undertake continual monitoring of all 
aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. 

10.6 Investment Balances – The average levels of funds available for investment 
purposes during the first half of the year to 30 September 2022 was £38.899m.  
These funds are available on a temporary basis, and the level of funds available 
was mainly dependent on the timing of precept payments, receipt of grants and 
progress on the capital programme.  The Council holds £20m cost cash balances 
for investment purposes (ie funds available for more than one year). 

10.7 Appendix 1 provides full list of investments held as at 30 September 2022. 

10.8 Investment Performance on Internal Investments 

Period Average 90 Day 
Benchmark 

Return 

Council 
Performance 

Investment 
Interest Earned* 

April - Sept 0.91% 1.08% £208,234 

* Investment interest earned based on returns received as at end of September.  Q2 income from externally 
managed property funds is not received until October and November. 

10.9 As illustrated, the Council outperformed the benchmark by 17 bps on its internally 
managed investments. 

10.10 Investment Returns – The Council’s budgeted investment return for both 
internally and externally managed investments for 2022/23 is £814k.  A 
favourable variance of £375k is included with the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring 
Report, which reflects the impact of rising interest rates. 

10.11 PROPERTY FUNDS AND MULTI ASSET FUNDS 

10.12 In the 2016/17, £10m was placed in three Externally Managed Property Funds.  
In 2017/18, a further £10m was placed in three Multi Asset Funds. 

10.13 The table shows the Net Asset Value (NAV) for each of the Property Funds and 
Multi Asset Funds as at end of September compared to the Purchase Price, 
along with the average gross return on investment to date. 

 
Purchase 

Price 
Sept NAV 

% Change 
NAV 

Average Gross 
Return on 
Investment 

Property Funds 

CCLA £1,873,528 £2,206,999 17.8% 4.50% 

Lothbury £4,949,648 £5,628,952 13.72% 4.13% 

Hermes £2,883,821 £3,624,377 25.68% 4.23% 

Multi Asset Funds 

JP Morgan £5,000,000 £4,196,306 -16.07% 4.57% 

Jupiter £3,000,000 £2,378,100 -20.73% 2.22% 

Page 104



11 

Aberdeen £2,000,000 £1,658,099 -17.10% 4.88% 

Total £19,706,997 £19,692,833 -0.07% - 

Note – The average gross return is based on the 12 months to 30 September.   

10.14 Property Funds - The % change in capital values above are based on 
movement from the original investment in 2016.  Since 2016 the capital values 
have fluctuated in response to domestic, and global events.  Capital values 
peeked in June 22 but have reduced over recent months in response to the 
current economic pressures. 

10.15 Dividend returns have been slightly affected by both the pandemic and the 
current economic pressures but have achieved an average gross return of 4.2% 
across the three funds.   

10.16 Officers are closely monitoring capital values and remain in regular contact with 
the Property Fund Managers, to ensure they are aware of the latest 
developments. 

10.17 Multi Asset Funds - The effect of the current economic pressures has been 
much more obvious on the Multi Asset funds, as can clearly be seen in the table 
above. 

10.18 The fund capital values peeked in December 2021 but have since fallen.  Markets 
fell initially following the invasion of Ukraine but have continued to fall in the wake 
of the current economic pressures.  Dividend returns for two of the funds have 
held up reasonably well, albeit slightly below the pre-pandemic returns.  However, 
the dividend return for Jupiter has been much harder hit, which is in part due to a 
change in direction of the fund.  As with the Property Funds, officers are closely 
monitoring capital values and remain in regular contact with Fund Managers, to 
ensure they are aware of the latest developments 

10.19 It must be remembered that investment in Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds 
need to be viewed as a long-term investment as capital values can go up as well 
as down and that past performance is not a guarantee of future returns. 

10.20 This is particularly relevant following the introduction of International Financial 
Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9) which came into effect from 1 April 2018.  A 
statutory override was introduced for a five-year period which runs till 31 March 
2023.  There has been a recent consultation on whether the statutory override 
should be extended for a further period, made permanent or whether the 
accounting standard should be fully implemented.  The results of the consultation 
have not yet been announced. 

11. Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Investments 

11.1 When placing an investment, the Council’s investment priorities are security, 
liquidity and yield and therefore it does not have a set of ESG standards to 
screen potential internally managed investments at this time.  However, these 
factors are extremely important to the Council and opportunities will be explored 
as and when they arise. 

11.2 However, ESG factors are an important consideration for the Council’s external 
fund managers who administer both the Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds 
and therefore a significant proportion of the Council’s investment portfolio is 
managed with these considerations in mind.  Whilst we cannot stipulate what is 
and is not acceptable for these Funds to consider, Officers do discuss and 

Page 105



12 

receive briefings from Fund Managers as to the ESG credentials of the funds on 
a regular basis. 

12. OTHER 

12.1 In February 2015 the Authority became a shareholder in the Municipal Bonds 
Agency (MBA), with an investment of £20,000.  The MBA was established by the 
Local Government Association (LGA) in the belief that it would provide councils 
with the opportunity to raise funds at significantly lower rates that those offered by 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). 

12.2 The MBA is now issuing bonds and officers will consider the appropriateness of 
any borrowing offer when the need to borrow arises. 

13. APPENDICIES 

13.1 Appendix 1 provides full list of investments held as at 30 September 2022. 

14. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

14.1 There are no background documents 

 

Lead Officer:  Alexandra Jarvis – Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 

Email:  alexandra.jarvis@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 106



13 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure appropriate governance around 
capital expenditure are set out in the Capital Strategy. 

Digital and website 
implications 

N/A 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

N/A 

 

Page 107

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 178 01/07/22 30/06/23 Commonwealth Bank of Australia King & Shaxson Maturity 2.8100% -4,863,704.35

Deposit Fixed 179 11/07/22 12/12/22 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 2.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 180 12/08/22 11/08/23 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 3.1200% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 181 28/09/22 28/09/23 Toronto-Dominion Bank King & Shaxson Maturity 5.4000% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 182 29/09/22 29/03/23 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Tradition Maturity 4.5100% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 183 29/09/22 28/09/23 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Tradition Maturity 5.4300% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 159 05/11/21 04/11/22 Bank of Montreal King & Shaxson Maturity 0.7000% -8,000,000.00

Fixed Total 2.7231% -24,863,704.35

11 Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 2.0000% -2,100,000.00

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 2.1200% -2,097,623.30

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 2.1200% -2,812,376.70

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF HQ Cap 31/03/22 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 2.1000% -4,143,844.48

MMF Total 2.0900% -11,153,844.48

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -3,035,867.38

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -2,206,998.83

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -588,509.74

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,628,952.12

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,658,098.60

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,196,305.84

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,378,100.89

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -19,692,833.40

Deposit Total 1.6338% -55,710,382.23

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -55,710,382.23

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2022

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 19/10/22 13:21

P
age 109



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 19/10/22 13:21

P
age 110



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 09 November 2022 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) 

Subject: Internal Audit Update Report  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Internal 
Audit Team for the period 1 August 2022 to 30 September 2022. 

Recommendations: 

1. None. 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 
to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local 
authority is responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  
Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to 
the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit 
services through the Shared Service to both authorities. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An adequate and effective Internal Audit function provides the 
council with assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and 
effective use of council resources in delivery of services. 
The budgeted costs for the Internal Audit elements of the Shared 
Service are £385,401 with Gravesham’s share of these costs 
being £138,744. 

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly 
relevant to Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  There are no direct climate change implications to this report. 

 
 

Page 111 Agenda Item 10



2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility, and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board. 

2. Internal Audit Update Report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the second of three updates to be produced during 
2022-23; detailing the work undertaken by the Internal Audit Team between 01 
August and 30 September and the progress made against the Q1-Q2 workplan. 

2.2 While this update relates to progress against the agreed plan for Q1-Q2, the 
percentage outturns for plan delivery and plan underway, detailed in section 6, are 
reflective of the number of reviews expected to be undertaken during the full year, 
although do take into account the revisions to the Q1-Q2 plan agreed by the 
Committee at the September 2022 meeting.  

2.3 Section eight of the update report includes details of actions that are more than six 
months overdue. Services have provided updates in relation to these actions and 
the reasons for delayed implementation. Revised implementation dates agreed by 
Management Team are detailed where appropriate. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

3.2 Appendix 2: Internal Audit Update Report 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  James Larkin 

Email:  James.larkin@medway.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 112



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Internal Audit team, provides a key source 
of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal 
control arrangements. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit Team provides an independent and objective opinion to the 
organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving 
the organisations’ objectives. The work of the service combined with a sound 
internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of actions agreed with the Internal Audit Team to 
address control weaknesses that are implemented by Management is one of the 
council’s overall Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via 
the council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 113

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 13 

Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 

Internal Audit Update  
Gravesham Borough Council 

For the period: 

1 August – 30 September 2022 
  

Page 115



Page 2 of 13 

1. Introduction 
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud 

 
1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 

report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility, and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board. 

2. Executive Summary 
2.1 This report covers a short period of only two months and no audit reviews have been finalised during 

the period. However, four reviews have had fieldwork completed, meaning five are now going through 
the quality control process, three further reviews are currently underway and commencement of a 
number of others is being arranged with clients following approval of the Q3-Q4 plan. As a consequence 
of this work, plan delivery as at 30 September was 21% complete, with a further 17% underway. Full 
details of the individual reviews can be found in section 5 of this report. 
 

2.2 Follow up of agreed recommendations has continued and performance as of 30 September stood at 
88.6%, with 31 of 35 actions due in the period having been completed. Four remain outstanding and are 
being monitored in line with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the progress made in relation 
to action follow up can be found at section 8. 
 

2.3 As reported in September, there has been some impact on planned resources due to sickness, and a 
vacancy for an Internal Auditor, resulting in a projected loss of approximately 43 days from the 
estimated 442 available at the start of the year. 

3. Independence 
3.1 The Internal Audit Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2022 and sets 

out the purpose, authority, and responsibility of the Internal Audit team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members. 

 
3.2 Given the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud’s responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the 

Internal Audit team cannot provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either 
council. Instead, independent assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought 
from an external supplier of audit services on a periodic basis. The most recent of these reviews was 
undertaken by Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council in 2018-19. 

4. Resources 
4.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway 

Council and Gravesham Borough Council. The Internal Audit team consists of; the Head of Internal Audit 
& Counter Fraud (0.65FTE), one Internal Audit Manager, one Senior Internal Auditor, and six Internal 
Auditors (5.78FTE) (one post currently vacant). 

Page 116



Page 3 of 13 

 
4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 

councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the beginning of 2022-23 was forecasted to provide a total of 1,219 days available for internal audit 
work (net of allowances for leave, training, management, administration etc.) with the share for 
Gravesham being 442 days.  

 
4.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 August to 30 September 2022 amounted to 79.4 

days and 68.8 days (87%) were spent on chargeable internal audit work. Of this chargeable time, 68 days 
(99%) was spent on audit assurance work and 0.8 days (1%) was spent on consultancy work. The current 
status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report. 

 
4.4 A period of vacancy following the resignation of an Internal Auditor and the first two of three attempts 

to recruit being unsuccessful has affected the level of resources. A successful recruitment process for an 
apprentice has now been completed and a start date is awaited.  

 

4.5 We are currently projecting a loss of approximately 43 days from the projected internal audit resource 
available at the start of the year.  

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
5.1 The Internal Audit Plan Q1-Q2 2022-23 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee 

in March 2022. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the Internal 
Audit resource, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the first six 
months of the financial year.  
 

5.2 The table below provides details the progress of work undertaken as part of the Q1-Q2 2022-23 plan 
during the period.  

Page 117



Page 4 of 13 

2022-23 Internal Audit assurance work 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

1 IT Security & Access 
Controls 

15  Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to ensure that access to the council’s 
network is secure. 

2 Communications 
Strategy 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to deliver the council’s 
Communications Strategy 2020-2023. 

3 NNDR Reliefs 15  Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place for the administration of discretionary and 
mandatory NNDR relief. 

4 Right to Buy    Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

5 Procurement 
Compliance 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Processes are in place to ensure the council complies with the 
requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the council’s own 
Contracts Procedure Rules. 

6 Planning Obligations 15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 
RMO1 - Planning obligations are appropriately used to ensure that development 
does not adversely impact the borough. 
RMO2 - Appropriate monitoring is undertaken of all planning obligation 
agreements. 

7 Financial Planning and 
Budget Setting (General 
Fund) 

15  Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives: 
RMO1 - The council has an ongoing plan to balance the General Fund revenue 
budget both in the current year and going forward 

8 Whistleblowing 15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are appropriate arrangements in place to manage whistleblowing. 

9 Void Property 
Management 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are appropriate arrangements for void properties to be managed. 

10 Food Safety Inspections 
(rating scheme) 

15  Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to ensure food safety inspections are 
conducted in line with the appropriate legislation. 

P
age 118



Page 5 of 13 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

11 Housing Development 
Strategy  

  Removed from Plan Removal agreed at September 2022 meeting 

12 Information Requests 
(FOI, SAR, EIR) 

  Removed from Plan Removal agreed at September 2022 meeting 

 

Other assurance activity 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

 Finalisation of 2021-22 
Planned Work  

20 70.4 Complete All details provided in September update. 

 Validation of 
Performance Data 

10 8.6 Complete All details provided in September update. 

 Grant Validations 6 N/A In progress No activity in the period 

 

Responsive assurance activity 

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

No activity during the period.  

 

Other consultancy services including advice & information 

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Rosherville  A consultancy review is currently in progress but is not yet concluded. 

 

P
age 119



Page 6 of 13 

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement. The Internal Audit QAIP 
was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2022.  

 
6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 

performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification.  

 
6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 14 performance indicators. The 

table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for the service and 
those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for nine of the 14 indicators; 
however, it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present are not to 
target levels but are provided for Members information.  

 

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for period 
    

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

IA1 Proportion of staff with professional qualification 
relevant to internal audit 

 

65% 25% 

IA2 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 
professional qualification training   

25% 25% 

IA3 Time spent on professional qualification training: N/A 3 Days 

IA4 Time spent on CPD/non-professional qualification 
training, learning & development 

40 days  4.7 Days 

IA5 Compliance with PSIAS 100% An updated self-assessment is 
due to take place in 
October/November 2022 prior to 
an External Quality Assessment. 

    

LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

IA6 Average cost per agreed assurance review <£5,000    

IA7 Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work  

N/A 87% 

IA8 Proportion of chargeable time spent on: N/A  

 a) Assurance work  99% 

 b) Consultancy work  1% 

IA9 Proportion of agreed assurance reviews: 95%  

 a) Delivered  21% 

 b) Underway  17% 

IA10 Proportion of completed assurance reviews subject 
to a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary quality 
control review 

10% 0% (Calculation based on 
finalised reviews) 

IA11 Proportion of actions agreed by client management 
to address control weaknesses 

90% 100% 

IA12 Number of agreed actions that are: N/A  

Page 120



Page 7 of 13 

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for period 

 a) Not yet due  23 

 b) Implemented  32 

 c) Outstanding  3 

IA13 Proportion of actions implemented by agreed date N/A 91.4% 

IA14 Client, Management and Member satisfaction with 
internal audit services 

90% A satisfaction survey will be 
issued at the end of 2022-23. 

7. Review of Internal Audit Plan 
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the internal audit work plans and enables the Internal Audit Manager 
to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans.  
 

7.2 Projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end are calculated at least quarterly and 
compared to the original forecasts. This determines any impacts on projected resources that would 
impact on delivery of the internal audit plan. 

 
7.3 As detailed in paragraph 4.5, we are currently projecting a loss of approximately 43 days from 

forecasted audit resources for 2022-23.  
 

7.4 We will continue to monitor available resources as the year progresses and update the Committee on 
any further changes that become necessary.  

8. Follow up of agreed Actions 
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team agree actions for improvement with service 
managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process be established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the 
risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk.  

 
8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all actions due 

on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence in respect of all completed High priority 
actions, which is verified by the Internal Audit Team.  

 
8.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 

second details actions that are now more than six months over their planned implementation date; 
along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director. Some may also 
contain details of revised implementation dates that have been agreed by Management Team. 

Page 121



Page 8 of 13 

Status of agreed actions 

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management 
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received 

Apprenticeship 
Scheme 

Opinion: . 
Five actions agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority. 

Actions relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives of the 
council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a process being put in place 
to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and 
arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy. 

All actions completed.  
 

Member Standards Opinion: .  
Three actions agreed: Two medium and one pow priority. 
Actions relate to the Member training requirements included in the Constitution being 
reviewed for consistency, arrangements being put in place to maintain a central log of 
attendance at Planning & Licensing training, including 1-1 sessions, to ensure ‘refresher’ 
training is provided to Committee Members at the appropriate frequency, and the point of 
contact for declaring gifts and hospitality being clarified and the Member Gifts and Hospitality 
register being retained in accordance with the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct.   

All actions completed.  
 

Shared Services Opinion: .  
One high priority action agreed. 
Action relates to a review of all Shared Service Agreements. 

All actions completed.  
 

Private Housing 
Enforcement 

Opinion: . 
Five high priority actions agreed. 
Actions relate to private Housing procedures being written  and tailored to ensure they reflect 
local priorities; the team investigating digitalisation of Private Housing enforcement processes, 
including making best use of the systems available and moving away from paper files, as well as 
well as reviewing arrangements to ensure the Public HMO Register is accurate; arrangements 
being put in place to facilitate the timely renewal of HMO licences and for enforcement action 
to be taken where this is not the case; arrangements being put in place to ensure the council is 
able to take robust private housing enforcement action; the necessary work to facilitate the 
introduction of Civil Penalties being progressed; and, the service exploring alternative means to 
hold the landlord forums and otherwise engage with landlords 

All actions completed.  
 

Constitution 
Maintenance 

Opinion:  
Two actions agreed: One high and one low priority. 

All actions completed.  

P
age 122



Page 9 of 13 

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management 
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received 

Actions relate to a secondment agreement for the new Monitoring Officer being put in place 
and measures being put into place to ensure that the documents that make up the Constitution 
are noted as to when they were updated, or that a table of amendments is included. 

Leaseholder 
Management 

Opinion: . 
Four actions agreed: One high and three medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated, procedure notes being reviewed, 
the arrangements in place to calculate interim service charges being reviewed, and reviewing 
the arrangements in place to respond to requests to view the accounts which can be made 
available for the inspection of leaseholders. 

Four actions due, two completed. 
Two medium priority outstanding relating to 
Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated and 
the arrangements in place to calculate 
interim service charges being reviewed. 

Risk Management 
Compliance 

Opinion: . 
Three actions agreed: One high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing the processes in place for assessing and recording operational risks; 
reviewing the arrangements in place for providing consistent risk management training to staff; 
and, reviewing the arrangements in place for reviewing Service Risk Registers. 

Two actions due, two completed.  
 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
Out of Area 
Placements 

Opinion . 
Eight actions agreed: Seven high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Temporary Accommodation Out of Area Placement policy (or an 
equivalent policy) being agreed and reviewed/signed off regularly; up-to-date 
workflows/procedures for managing temporary accommodation being put in place; procedures 
being reviewed to ensure compliance with the Homelessness Code of Guidance for local 
authorities can be demonstrated relating to the standard / suitability of accommodation for out 
of area placements; and arrangements being in put in place to ensure that costs are recovered 
for all temporary accommodation placements outside of the council’s housing stock.  
 

Seven actions due, seven completed. 

Council Tax 
Discounts, 
Disregards & 
Exemptions 

Opinion: . 
Three actions agreed: One high, one medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to a review of the procedure notes/guidance for the administration of Council 
Tax DDEs; a review of applications (including online and paper forms), ensuring that 
appropriate applications are accompanied by a signed application form; and, a review of the 
arrangements in place to review Council Tax DDEs to ensure that they remain valid, with these 
reviews documented. 

No actions due in report period. 

Bank Reconciliation Opinion: . 
One low priority action agreed. 
Action relates to more comprehensive bank reconciliation procedure notes. 

All actions completed.  
 

P
age 123



Page 10 of 13 

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management 
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received 

Accessibility 
Regulations 

Opinion: . 
Three actions agreed: One medium and two low priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing and updating a web accessibility action plan, investigating / 
agreeing arrangements for websites other than the main council website to be made compliant 
with the Accessibility Regulations and publishing an accessibility statement on the council’s 
intranet to explain that it is currently exempt from the regulations. 

Three actions due, two completed. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
investigating / agreeing arrangements for 
websites other than the main council 
website to be made compliant with the 
Accessibility Regulations. 

GDPR Opinion: . 
Five actions agreed: Four high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the GDPR action plan being finalised; the most up to date versions of the 
Information Governance policies being shared with staff; planned training to be reviewed to 
consider the need for specific training on data incident handling; and, a review of the forms and 
processes in place to capture data incidents, to ensure a complete record is available of the 
incident and action taken. 

One action due, one completed. 

Corporate 
Complaints 

Opinion: . 
One medium priority action agreed. 
Action relates to relevant staff being reminded of the council’s Corporate Complaints 
Procedure, in particular, responsibility and timescales for acknowledging complaints, to store 
relevant documentation within the Corporate Complaints folder on the H drive, and to 
accurately record dates of action taken on DASH in a timely manner. 

All actions completed.  
 

Housing Allocations Opinion: . 
Two actions agreed: Two medium priority. 
Actions relate to a checklist being created to confirm all necessary documents have been 
obtained for each application; and, regular quality assurance checks being carried out. 

No actions due in report period. 

Council Housing – 
Disabled 
Adaptations 

Opinion: . 
Three actions agreed: Two high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the update and communication of the Aids & Adaptation Policy for Council 
Tenants, ensuring there is relevant information available to tenants and the process for tenants 
to request aids and adaptations being reviewed. 

No actions due in report period. 

Planning 
Applications 

Opinion: . 
Five actions agreed: Two high, two medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to charging for pre-application advice being reviewed; invalid applications being 
monitored to ensure there are no significant delays; Timely completion of the pre-validation 
checklist being made a mandatory part of the validation process and monitored via the 
Planning Technical Support Team Leader; investigating if the recommendation approval tab on 

One action due, one completed. 

P
age 124



Page 11 of 13 

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management 
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received 

Uniform can be restricted to senior officers only; and, arrangements being made for approval 
arrangements for planning applications set out in the Constitution to be reviewed. 

Business Continuity 
Planning  

Opinion: . 
Five actions agreed: Two high, two medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to the Business Continuity Management Framework and revised BCP templates 
being circulated to relevant staff and plan owners instructed to update their plans; an updated 
Corporate BCP being created; testing exercises being scheduled and carried out; and the 
Framework being updated in relation to arrangements for post incident reviews 

One action due, one completed. 

  

P
age 125



Page 12 of 13 

Actions outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date 

Directorate Audit title Action Priority Planned 
implementation 

date 

Management update 

Housing / 
Corporate 
Services 

Leaseholder 
Management 

Review the arrangements in place to raise 
interim service charges, with an 
appropriate policy explaining how interim 
charges are calculated. 

Medium 31 March 2022 There has been a recent urgent development 
relating to Leasehold insurance that has required a 
significant resource input, which unfortunately 
takes priority at this time. Management Team have 
therefore agreed a revised implementation date of 
31 October 2023. 

P
age 126



Appendix A 
 

Page 13 of 13 

Definitions of audit opinions & action priorities 
Opinion Definition 

– Risk 
management operates 
effectively, and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Actions agreed are considered to be opportunities to 
enhance existing arrangements. 

 

– Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met  

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and actions have been agreed to improve 
this. 

 

– Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met  

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance. Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety, or damage to reputation. 
Actions have been agreed to introduce new controls, improve 
compliance with existing controls or improve the efficiency of 
operations. 

 

 

Priority Definition 

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The agreed action addresses the 
weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the action as 
a matter of urgency.  

 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
action within a reasonable timeframe. 

 

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the action as resources allow.  

 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 09 November 2022 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) 

Subject: Counter Fraud Update Report  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Counter 
Fraud Team for the period 1 August 2022 to 30 September 2022. 

Recommendations: 

1. None. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for the 
proper administration of its financial affairs. The work of the 
Counter Fraud Team supports this responsibility by identifying and 
investigating alleged misuse of public money, applying sanctions, 
and seeking redress as appropriate 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An adequate and effective Counter Fraud function helps to identify 
fraud and error that could have an adverse effect on the financial 
statements of the Council. 
The budgeted costs for 2022-23 for the Counter Fraud elements 
of the Shared Service are £223,162 with Medway’s share of these 
costs being £81,960. Savings resulting from investigative activity 
during the reporting period total £51,856 (£149,697 year to date) 
providing good value for money. 

Corporate Plan The work of the Counter Fraud supports the council in achieving 
Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  There are no direct climate change implications to this report. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports periodically to 
senior management and the board, providing updates on progress against 
agreed workplans and the results of any investigative activity. 

Page 129 Agenda Item 11



2 

2. Counter Fraud Update Report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the second of three updates to be produced during 
2022-23; detailing the work undertaken by the Counter Fraud Team between 01 
August and 30 September 2022 in relation to the agreed workplan.  

2.2 It also provides a summary of the results of investigative activity and the savings 
achieved, as well as the outturns against the teams set performance measures. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

3.2 Appendix 2: Counter Fraud Update Report 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  James Larkin 

Email:  James.larkin@medway.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 130



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Counter Fraud Team, provides a key 
source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
counter fraud arrangements. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The work of Counter Faud has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigations; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 131

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 

Counter Fraud Update  
Gravesham Borough Council 

For the period: 

1 August – 30 September 2022 
  

Page 133



Page 2 of 6 

1. Introduction 
1.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 

was established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, 
proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between 
both authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation 
of Benefits Fraud 

 
1.2 The Counter Fraud team reports periodically to senior management and the Finance & Audit Committee 

to provide updates on all counter fraud activity and the results of completed investigations.  

2. Executive Summary 
2.1 Despite the relatively short reporting period of only two months, there has been continued activity in 

most areas of the counter fraud plan.  
 

2.2 Fraud awareness sessions have been delivered to Housing Options, Housing (Landlord Services) and 
Customer Services and a number of other introductory meetings have been arranged for the coming 
months. 
 

2.3 Further progress with the National Fraud Initiative exercises means that almost all matches from 
previous exercises will be cleared when the results of the next exercise are received in January. Full 
details of the results from each exercise are detailed in the NFI annual report.  

 

2.4 Investigative activity has continued and cashable savings of £51,520 have been identified during the 
reporting period. The team continue to progress a number of investigations into various fraud types, 
including revenues and housing.  

 

2.5 Good liaison has been maintained with the Police and other investigative bodies, with all requests for 
information responded to within set timescales. 

3. Resources 
3.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway 

Council and Gravesham Borough Council. The Counter Fraud team consists of; the Head of Internal Audit 
& Counter Fraud (0.35FTE), one Counter Fraud Manager, two Counter Fraud Officers, and two Counter 
Fraud Intelligence Analysts (1.86FTE). 

 
3.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 

councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Counter Fraud Plan for 2022-23 was prepared, was forecasted to provide a total of 691 
days available for counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, management, 
administration etc.)  The Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a resource budget of 249 
days for counter fraud work.  

 
3.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 August to 30 September 2022 amounted to 56 

days and 52 days (93%) were spent on chargeable counter fraud work. Of this chargeable time, 2.4 days 
(5%) were spent on fraud awareness and prevention activity, 2 days (4%) on pro-active counter fraud 
activity, 44.2 days (84%) on reactive investigation activity and 3.8 days (7%) on other counter fraud 
activity. The current status and results of work carried out are detailed at section 4 of this report. 

Page 134



Page 3 of 6 

4. Results of Counter Fraud work 
4.1 The Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in 

March 2022. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the Counter 
Fraud resource, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the financial 
year.  
 

4.2 The tables below provide details of the progress of work undertaken as part of the 2022-23 annual plan 
and the results of investigative work completed during the period.  

Page 135



Page 4 of 6 

Fraud Awareness & Prevention 

Ref Activity Days used Current status Summary of activity 

1 Fraud Risk Assessments N/A In progress No activity in reporting period 

2 Fraud awareness 2.4 In progress Fraud awareness sessions have been delivered to Housing Options, Housing (Landlord Services) 
and Customer Services during the reporting period.  

3 Corporate Working 
Groups 

N/A Not yet started There have been no requests for attendance at corporate working groups during the report 
period. 

4 Corporate Policies N/A In Progress No activity required in the reporting period. 

 

Pro-Active Counter Fraud Activity 

Ref Activity Days used Current status Summary of activity 

5 National Fraud Initiative 2 In progress As detailed in the previous update, resource has been dedicated to bringing the work around 
the NFI exercises up to date. This targeting of work means that we are in an extremely good 
position ahead of the 2022-23 exercise results being received, with a small number yet to be 
reviewed and only a handful of matches with ongoing enquiries.  

All work associated with the 2019-20 council tax exercise is now concluded. 

A total of 3,455 matches were received across the various reports included in the 2020-21 NFI 
Exercise. 40 matches relating to parking permits and grants are yet to be checked, while four 
matches relating to council tax and housing remain open for further enquiries. All other 
matches have been dealt with.  

A total of 1835 matches were received across four reports, as part of the 2021-22 NFI council 
tax exercise. All matches have been checked and only four remain open for further enquiries.  

Full details of the results and associated savings are detailed in the NFI annual report. 

Data submissions for the 2022-23 exercise are underway with results received in January 2023. 

6 Kent Intelligence 
Network 

N/A Not yet started There have been no referrals to counter fraud as a consequence of KIN activity and no results 
from Revenues reported in the period. 

7 Pro-Active Exercises N/A Not yet started To date we have not undertaken any pro-active activity outside of the NFI exercises while the 
backlog of work was cleared. We are now considering what pro-active work may be of benefit 
to the council. 

P
age 136



Page 5 of 6 

 

Responsive investigation work: external investigations 

Area 
Number of 

investigations 
concluded 

Summary of results Cashable savings 
Non-cashable 

savings 
Prevented losses 

Council Tax 44 Three cases were concluded with no evidence of 
fraud/error. 41 cases concluded with the removal of the 
council tax discount/exemption or reduction, one of 
which resulted in the issue of a civil penalty and two 
others resulted in the issue of cautions to individuals for 
failure to report changes in circumstances.  

£30,530 (Historic 
Liability)  
£17,556 (Additional 
liability for future 
years) 
Civil Penalty £70 

N/A N/A 

Tenancy  3 One case closed with excess CTR identified, one 
concluded with a deceased individual being removed 
from the Housing Register and one concluded as LA 
error.  

£92.13 (Historic 
Liability)  
£3,608.28 (Housing 
Benefit) 

N/A N/A 

 

Responsive investigation work: internal investigations 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team conduct disciplinary investigations on behalf of HR into a range of matters. Details cannot be provided while investigations are ongoing, 

but an anonymised summary will be included in updates after the cases are concluded. 

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations 

Nothing to report.  

 

Other Counter Fraud Activity 

Ref Activity Days used Summary of activity 

10 Liaison with the DWP 0.1 There have been two requests for Housing Benefit data during the report period. No case outcomes 
have been received. 

11 Responding to information requests 3.7 The team have responded to requests for information from the Police and a number of other 
investigative bodies during the period, providing necessary information in accordance with the data 
protection protocols. 

 

P
age 137



Appendix A 
 

Page 6 of 6 

5. Performance Monitoring 
5.1 The Counter Fraud Plan includes a suite of nine performance indicators used to monitor the 

effectiveness of the team. The monitoring of performance data largely automated through the team’s 
time recording processes and reports available from their case management system. It should be noted 
that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality verification.  

 
5.2 The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for the service and 

those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for four of the nine indicators; 
however, it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present are not to 
target levels but are provided for Members information.  

 

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for period 
    

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

CF1 Proportion of staff with professional qualification 
relevant to counter fraud: 

50% 67% 

CF2 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 
professional qualification training   

50% 100% 

CF3 Time spent on Professional qualification training: N/A 5.1 days 

CF4 Time spent on CPD/non-professional qualification 
training, learning & development 

25 days  1.4 days 

    

LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

CF5 Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work  

N/A 93% 

CF6 Proportion of chargeable time spent on:  N/A  

 a) Fraud Awareness & Prevention  5% 

 b) Pro-Active Counter Fraud Activity  4% 

 c) Responsive Investigation Activity   84% 

 d) Other Counter Fraud Activity  7% 

CF7 Number of investigations closed N/A 47 

CF8 Value of fraud losses identified:  N/A  

 a) cashable (losses that can be recovered)  £51,856 

 b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates) 

 £0 

 c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated with 
blocked applications) 

 £0 

CF9 Client, Management and Member satisfaction 

with Counter Fraud services 

90% Satisfaction Survey to be issued at 
the end of 2022-23 

 

Page 138



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 09 November 2022 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) 

Subject: NFI Annual Report  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with an update on the work completed in relation to the data matches 
received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercises 2019-20, 2020-21 and 2021-22. 

Recommendations: 

1. None. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for the 
proper administration of its financial affairs. The work of the 
Counter Fraud Team supports this responsibility by identifying and 
investigating alleged misuse of public money, applying sanctions, 
and seeking redress as appropriate 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An adequate and effective Counter Fraud function helps to identify 
fraud and error that could have an adverse effect on the financial 
statements of the Council. 
The work undertaken in relation to the data matching from the 
various National Fraud Inititave Exercises identifies fraud and 
error, which the council can then seek to recover.  
The results being reported show cumultive savings of approx 
£299,257 as of 30 Septemmber 2022. 

Corporate Plan The work of the Counter Fraud supports the council in achieving 
Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  There are no direct climate change implications to this report. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 The council proactively takes part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise, 
which is co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. This is a nationwide data matching 
exercise, comparing computer records held by the council against other computer 

Page 139 Agenda Item 12



2 

records held by councils and other public bodies, with a view to identifying 
potential instances of fraud or irregularity.  

1.2 There are two separate exercises, one matches council tax single person discount 
(SPD) to the electoral register and is run on an annual basis. Data is submitted 
between December, once the electoral register has been published, and February 
the following year, with the results received within hours.  

1.3 The second exercise takes data from the council in relation to;  

 housing (tenancies, right to buy, waiting list), 

 housing benefit, 

 council tax reduction, 

 residents parking permits, 

 creditors (historic and standing), 

 market traders, 

 personal alcohol licences, 

 payroll, and 

 private hire (taxi) licences, 
 
1.4 Matches can be reviewed by the individual services they relate to, with suspicious 

results referred to the Counter Fraud Team for investigation; or reviewed directly 
by the Counter Fraud Team. 

1.5 This report provides an update on the 2019-20 council tax single persons discount 
exercise, the 2020-21 bi-annual exercise, which includes the data sets described 
in paragraph 1.3 above, and the 2021-22 council tax single persons discount 
exercise. 

2. Progress with the 2019-20 Council Tax Exercise 

2.1 In total 934 matches were received across three reports. These relate to persons 
with a single person discount where the data match has identified: 

 Report 801 - Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (793 
matches), 

 Report 802 - Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 
18 (63 matches), and 

 Report 803 - Other records showing alternative persons registered at the 
address (78 matches). 

 
2.2 These matches were reviewed by the A&CF Service. The current position for all 

reports, as of 31 August 2021, is as follows; 

2.3 Report 801: 

 292 matches were rejected as not requiring investigation. This is because 
they have been cleared as part of previous exercises. 

 437 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 64 SPD removed (six replaced with alternative discount). 
 

2.4 Report 802: 

 47 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 16 SPD removed (two replaced with alternative discount). 
 

2.5 Report 803: 

Page 140



3 

 72 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 Six SPD removed. 
 

2.6 Overall, 86 single person discounts were removed, eight of which were replaced 
with alternative discounts. Some of those matches also resulted in amendments to 
housing benefit and council tax reduction awards. 

2.7 This represents a success rate of 8.07% and has led to additional CTAX liability of 
£87,513 and an additional £38,837 in future years in relation to discounts and 
council tax reduction that will no longer be applied. In addition, 15 civil penalties 
were issued for negligently failing to report changes that impacted on eligibility for 
a discount, totalling £1,050. 

2.8 This concludes all action with the 2019-20 exercise. 

3. Progress with the 2020-21 Exercise 

3.1 In total, 3,506 matches have been received since January 2021 and can be 
categorised in eight key areas of the council: 

 Council Tax – 2,282 matches  

 Housing Benefit – 52 matches  

 Council Tax Reduction – 260 matches  

 Payroll & Procurement – 17 matches 

 Housing – 306 matches  

 Parking – 18 matches  

 Finance – 529 matches 

 Business Grants – 42 matches 
 

Council Tax  

3.2 The matches relating to council tax (CTAX) are checked by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service and initially 2,282 matches were received across the various 
reports. These relate to persons with a single person discount where the data 
match has identified; 

 Report 801 - Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (779 
matches), 

 Report 802 - Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 
18 (21 matches), and 

 Report 803 - Other council records showing alternative persons registered 
at the address (1482 matches). 

 
3.3 Report 801: 

 711 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 68 SPD removed (Three replaced with alternative discount). 
 

3.4 Report 802: 

 15 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 Six SPD removed (One replaced with alternative discount). 
 

3.5 Report 803: 

 926 matches were rejected as not requiring investigation.  

 Three matches currently open with ongoing enquiries. 

Page 141



4 

 540 closed with no evidence of fraud. 

 Three SPD removed (Three replaced with alternative discount). 
 

3.6 Overall, 77 single person discounts have been removed, seven of which have 
been replaced with an alternative discount.  

3.7 This represents a success rate of 3.37% and to date has led to additional CTAX 
liability of £58,219 and an additional £31,869 in future years relation to discounts 
that will no longer be applied. 

Housing Benefit  

3.8 Results linked to housing benefit (HB) are spread across 15 different reports. 
These reports identify potential employment, other income and additional 
residents that may not have been declared for the purpose of the benefit 
assessment. It should be noted that the majority of these people are also in 
receipt of council tax reduction as part of their claim. Any instances of potential 
fraud are referred directly to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for 
further investigation. 

3.9 The benefits section has been responsible for reviewing matches and as of 30 
September 2022, enquiries linked to those matches has resulted in the following; 

 48 closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 One referred to DWP for investigation. 

 Three matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 
reduction. 

 
3.10 This represents an overall success rate of 5.77% and has led to the identification 

of housing benefit overpayments totalling £28,183 and excess council tax 
reduction of £1,162.  

Council Tax Reduction 

3.11 Results linked to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) are spread across 17 different 
reports. As with the HB dataset matches, these reports identify potential 
employment, other income and additional residents that may not have been 
declared for the purpose of the benefit assessment and the majority of those 
people are also in receipt of HB as part of the same claim.  

3.12 The benefits section has been responsible for reviewing matches and as of 30 
September 2022, enquiries linked to those matches has resulted in the following; 

 214 closed with no evidence of fraud or error  

 One referred to DWP for investigation. 

 45 matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 
reduction. 

 
3.13 This represents an overall success rate of 25.65% and has led to the identification 

of housing benefit overpayments totalling £4,756.19 and excess council tax 
reduction of £9,412.06. In addition, HB awards have been reduced by a total of 
£31.85 per week (annual saving of £1,656.20) and CTR awards have been 
reduced by a total of £104.54 per week (annual saving of £5,436.08) 

Payroll 

3.14 Payroll matches are aimed at identifying employees who may have undeclared 
secondary employment that could lead to a failure to work their contracted hours 

Page 142



5 

and also any employees that are creditors providing services to the council, which 
could lead to potential undeclared interests or procurement corruption. 

3.15 17 matches were received across seven reports and 17 have been closed with no 
issues identified. 

Housing 

3.16 Results linked to housing are spread across 27 different reports. These reports 
identify individuals who potentially have tenancies with more than one authority, 
discrepancies that suggest right to buy applications may be fraudulent, and 
individuals on the council waiting list that appear to have tenancies with other local 
authorities/Housing Associations or are on the waiting list of other local 
authorities.  

3.17 As of 30 September 2022, enquiries linked to 306 matches have resulted in the 
following. 

 One match open for further enquiries. 

 313 matches closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 Two people removed from the housing register. 

 One match resulting in the cancellation of a housing benefit claim.  
 
3.18 This represents an overall success rate of 0.95% and has led to the removal of 

two applicants that were no longer eligible to be on the housing register and the 
identification of a housing benefit overpayment of £1,258.20.  

Parking 

3.19 Residents Parking Permits are matched to the deceased data held by the DWP to 
identify any active permits registered to customers who are now deceased. 

3.20 17 matches were received but are yet to be checked.  

Finance 

3.21 Results linked to finance are spread across eight different reports. These reports 
identify potential duplicate payee records in the system, duplicate payments to 
creditors and overpayments of VAT.  

3.22 A total of 529 matches were received and were reviewed by the finance service. 
As of 30 September 2022, enquiries linked to these matches have resulted in the 
following. 

 523 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 

 Identification of six duplicate payments. 
 
3.23 This represents an overall success rate of 1.13% and has led to the recovery of 

duplicate payments totalling £12,336.05.  

Business Grants 

3.24 Data relating to the Small Business Grants (SBG), Retail, Hospitality & Leisure 
Grants (RHLG), and Discretionary Business Grants (DBG), that were issued 
during the first national lockdown was supplied as part of the submissions for the 
2020-21 exercise.  

Page 143



6 

3.25 Initially 21 matches were received across two reports but a further 23 matches 
were then received, giving a total of 44 matches across four reports. These 
reports identifying potential duplicate payments to recipients and also businesses 
that may also have received a grant from another authority.  

3.26 The first 21 matches received were subject to initial assessment by the Revenues 
Team and all were closed with no evidence of fraud or error. The remaining 23 are 
yet to be reviewed. 

4. Progress with the 2021-22 Exercise 

4.1 In total 1835 matches were received across four reports. These relate to persons 
with a single person discount where the data match has identified: 

 Report 801 - Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (668 
matches), 

 Report 802 - Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 
18 (21 matches), and 

 Report 803 - Other records showing alternative persons registered at the 
address (87 matches). 

 Report 815.2 – HMRC records showing alternative persons registered at 
the address (1059 matches). 

 
4.2 Report 801: 

 100 matches rejected as not requiring investigation.  

 521 matches closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 47 SPD removed (four replaced with alternative discount). 
 
4.3 Report 802: 

 Eight matches closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 Six SPD removed (two replaced with alternative discount). 

 A marker added to seven accounts to ensure the SPD is reviewed at the 
appropriate time, preventing potential error. 

4.4 Report 803: 

 One match open for further enquiries. 

 84 matches closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 Two SPD removed, one case resulting in the issue of a caution. 
 
4.5 Report 815.2 

 Three matches open for further enquiries 

 971 matches closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

 85 SPD removed, one case resulting in the issue of a caution. 

4.6 This represents a success rate of 8.01% and has led to additional CTAX liability of 
£86,218.31 and an additional £58,751.37 in future years in relation to discounts 
and CTR awards that will no longer be applied. 

5. Overall Summary 

5.1 The report gives details of the NFI activity and outcomes to date relating to the 
2019-20, 2020-21 and 2021-22 exercises. The total financial results from these 
exercises are as follows. 

Page 144



7 

 Council Tax additional liability    £155,011.37  

 Council Tax future liability     £96,056.45  

 Housing benefit overpayments   £34,197.39 

 Reduction in HB awards    £1,656.20 

 Duplicate Creditor Payments   £12,336.05 

 Total      £299,257.46 
 

6. Appendices 

6.1 None 

7. Background Documents  

7.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  James Larkin 

Email:  James.larkin@medway.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 145



8 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the NFI activity and outcomes, provides a key source of 
assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control 
arrangements to identify and tackle fraud and error. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Service provides an independent and objective 
opinion to the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the service 
combined with a sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to 
community safety in its broadest sense. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no digital/website implications to this report.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 146

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Appointment of External Auditor
	Appendix one - Appointment of External Auditor  - PSAA Correspondance

	6 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report Q2
	Appendix 1 MTFP - V4 - 2022-23
	Appendix 2 - Investments as at 30-09-22

	7 HRA Budget Monitoring Report Q2
	Appendix - Q2 HRA BP Capital
	Appendix - Q2 HRA BP Revenue

	8 Corporate Risk Register Mid-year review
	Appendix II Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
	Appendix III Monitoring of Actions
	Appendix IV Elections Bill - New Emerging Risk

	9 Treasury Management Mid-year review
	Appendix 1 - Investments as at 30-09-22

	10 Internal Audit update
	2. Appendix 2 - IA Update 01 Aug 2022 to 30 Sep 2022

	11 Counter Fraud Update
	4. Appendix 2 - CF Update 01 Aug 2022 to 30 Sep 2022

	12 National Fraud Initiative Annual Progress update

